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John Gatens
589th Field Artillery Battalion

A Battery

PREFACE  

          The following narrative of my time spent with the 106th  Infantry Division is made 
possible, in part, as far as dates and times are concerned, by reference to a short history 
of the 589th Field Artillery Battalion written not long after the end of the war by Francis 
H. Aspinwall, who was assigned to Headquarters Battery, and either kept a diary and/or 
had access to records prior to writing his booklet titled "History of the 589th Field 
Artillery Battalion". I also used part of  Frank's text as a reference where other units and 
events are mentioned that I had no knowledge of at the time. 

We all were cautioned to not keep a journal of our activities, lest it slip into enemy hands 
and give them intelligence about our unit. A totally unnecessary precaution in my opinion 
since on  our arrival at the front we were welcomed to the war by a radio broadcast 
direct from Berlin. The Germans probably knew as much about us as they needed to, long 
before we got there. I often wished that I had disregarded this order and written a daily 
account of my activities. I trust that Frank will not begrudge me the use of his historic 
material for reference. 

Facts about events at the time that we became involved in the  hostilities in Europe were 
poorly understood at best. Nobody could give an accurate report of what had happened 
immediately after it happened, so how can anyone do it 50 years later.  Historians put 
together a pretty good story sometimes but one has to consider, were they there, and did 
it really happen that way?  

I do know that the version of the battle at Baraque de Fraiture given by Horst Gresiak, 
the German in command of a company of tanks and infantry that made the final assault, 
is pure BULL when it comes to his description of what he was up against. If we had what 
he SAID we had in the way of armor, he would still be trying to take the crossroads. 
Period. There's an old Chinese saying, that, if you tell a lie and stick with  it, it has the 
truth beat by a mile. Horst got a medal. He  must have written his own commendation. I 
was there.

                          ************************

         REFERENCES:
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Autobiography by John R. Schaffner                                                                        

            I, along with a whole train load of 19 year old draftees, joined the 106th Infantry 
Division at Ft. Jackson, S.C. in March 1943. I was assigned to "A" Battery, 589th Field 
Artillery Battalion and placed in the gun section under Sgt. Johnnie B. Jordan. There were 
no assigned positions at this time. After about three weeks of orientation about chain of 
command, close order drill, making a G.I. bed and physical  fitness, we received the four 
105 howitzers that make up a firing battery. A section is made up of nine men. A 
sergeant is in charge of the section. Next is the Gunner (most important position when 
firing,) his job is to set all firing  commands, on a high power sight and traverse the 
barrel to correct direction to be fired. This is the procedure, when the firing command 
comes down from the observation post. This is called indirect firing. In direct firing 
(when the target is in view) the gunners responsibility is to set the elevation, then track 
the target and give the order to fire. The Number 1 man's responsibility is to set the 
elevation for indirect firing. The Number 2 man's responsibility is to put the shell into the 
barrel. The other four men prepare the shell for  firing - the type of shell to be used as 
given from the observation post. We had three types - armor piercing, high explosive and 
time fuse. Each shell had seven powder bags. These powder bags determined how far the 
shell will travel. You can use all seven or as small as one. If one is used, the target is way 
too close. The last man is the truck driver.             

            During our early training period, each man was being observed by the officers. 
Ten men were chosen to take the test to be gunners. Only four made it and I was one of 
them. This carried the rank of corporal.       

            We accomplished our basic training and practiced division  scale maneuvers at 
Fort Jackson, S.C. during the remainder of 1943. Although, when I arrived at Ft. Jackson 
early in March  and the weather was wet and cold, it soon turned hot and dry.  The camp 
was swept with a dry breeze frequently and the fine dust got into everything. As I recall 
that first morning at Fort Jackson, the sergeant came into the barracks with a lot  of 
noise, telling us to get up and get going and how to dress. It was still dark, cold and 
raining hard and the wind was  blowing the rain in sheets against the barracks as we 
were awakened. My thoughts were, "Well, with the weather like it is, I guess we will 
have to stay inside today." Was I ever mistaken, the first order we had was, 
"EVERYBODY OUT FOR ROLL CALL !!." So, steel helmets and raincoats, we all lined up in 
the rain, out in the battery street and sounded off as the  sergeant called our names. As I 
stood there with the rain beating on my helmet and running down the back of my neck, I 
thought that it sounded like an attic with a tin roof. We soon learned to disregard the 
weather, whatever we were doing, it was never a deciding factor. We were in the Army 
now.   

            Our division was referred to as motorized but we walked everywhere. When we 
finally began to use the vehicles, dust respirators and goggles had to be issued. The dry 
dirt roads throughout the maneuvering area sent up clouds of dust that infiltrated 
everything and made it impossible to breath or see ahead. At the end of the day we were 
mud balls from the dust and the sweat. All of that summer and fall the division 
was active in the field practicing those skills needed to defeat the enemy.         

            We had been issued the Carbine M-1 and taught everything  about it. How to take 
it apart, and keep it clean, and to love it and never be without it. It was to become a 
living part of us. When the day finally came to actually load it with live ammunition, we 
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were as excited as being on a first date with a  real live girl. The temperature at the firing 
range must have been at least 100 F. The targets were placed across a bare,  sandy field 
at 100, 200 and 300 yards. As we tried to zero in on our targets, the hot air shimmering 
off the sand made the  "bull's eye" seem to perform like a belly dancer. Nobody  
qualified, so the firing for record was postponed for another day. When the time came, I 
made "Expert" with the carbine. On  occasion, in later days, I have heard disparaging 
remarks made about this weapon, but I never had any problems with mine, then or later. 
AND, it was made by the Rockola Juke Box  Company.  

            We now had four complete gun sections under the command of  Lt. Graham 
Cassibry. His responsibility was to make us an  efficient, accurate and fast firing unit. 
This he accomplished  because he won the hearts of every man and they would 
do anything for him. Under his command we won the title of the best firing battery in the 
battalion.       

            We were the youngest group of men ever drafted into the U. S. Army. Now they 
had to find out how much these kids could  take. I don't think they missed one torture 
test available. Most of our time was spent camped in the woods. We had day and  night 
firing missions. Twenty five mile forced marches. Dry  and muddy infiltration courses. We 
lived on bag lunches, so much so that we became known as "The Bag Lunch Division." 
Low  and behold, after many months of really grueling training we passed with flying 
colors. We were now ready for the next phase of our training.         

            After New Year's holiday, the division then moved from the comparatively 
comfortable Fort Jackson to the Tennessee  Maneuver Area for the period of January, 
February and March 1944 where we became accustomed to living in the "field". The cold 
and wet weather during those three months was extremely difficult, with some 30 inches 
of rain, setting a record of  some kind for the area. We spent a great deal of time just 
extricating the howitzers and vehicles from the mud. Everybody was wet and cold most 
of the time. We learned to exist with these conditions and I can't recall that anyone even 
caught a  cold. On one particular day we were occupying a farmer's pasture that was 
about eight inches in snow when one of his cows gave birth to a calf. That was a "first" 
for most of us  "city guys" on the scene. When the maneuvers were finally over  we were 
confident that we could handle anything. Before the division had completed this phase of 
our training we heard of quite a few casualties. During a crossing attempt of 
the Cumberland River at flood stage, a raft loaded with a truck and a group of infantry 
G.I.'s upset in mid-stream. We heard that there were no survivors. In our battery one 
night we had a man run over by a 2 1/2 ton GMC, backing to hitch on to a howitzer. We 
heard later that he recovered, but he never re-joined the outfit.  

            One of our simulated battles required that we cross the raging waters of the 
Cumberland River. To get us across was the responsibility of our Engineers. What they 
had was a pontoon type raft. It was large enough to carry a 2 & 1/2 ton truck. In the 
rear and on one side was an outboard motor. When it was our turn to cross there was a 
group of old time farmers gathered around watching what was going on. They kept 
shaking their heads and telling us we will never make it. They convinced me, and I would 
have waited for the river to stop raging. However, when the Army says, "GO," you go. 
The gun and its crew had to go first. The thinking was, that if we didn't make it, a truck, 
alone on the other side would not win a battle. So off we went. There were two engineers 
on board. One worked the engine and the one up front give directions. I must  say, they 
were very good. We headed upstream against the current. The engine roared full blast. 
While headed upstream he was also moving across at the same time. When we 
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were approximately 2/3 of the way across he started heading  downstream. Now I really 
got scared. It took us 1/4 of the  time to go down as it did to go up. Now, while traveling 
at this rate of speed he had to slow it down so we could get in to the dock. It took a few 
tries but he did get us in safely. Now he had to go back and get our truck. Lucky him.       

            We did have some fun times during all this serious training. I remember one of 
our early morning missions we had to move positions. When we arrived at the new 
position my gun was placed in the front yard of a farmhouse. The occupants of  the house 
were all sleeping because there were no lights on. When we were set up and a fire 
mission came down all four guns fired. On these missions we fired blank shells. They 
made the same noise as a real shell, however, no projectile is in flight. All of a sudden all 
of the lights in the house went on  and the farmer came running out with his shotgun, 
ready to kill us all. After he calmed down his wife came out and asked us if we would 
give her fifty cents a man she would make us coffee, eggs, bacon and hot biscuits. We all 
accepted and  believe me after what we had been eating we hoped that we would never 
leave this position.       

            The weekly routine while on this phase of training was,  every Monday morning 
we started out on a new battle problem. One week you would be the attacker and the 
next you would be the defender. The battle lasts for five days, until Friday. Everything 
was realistic. One of the judges would come around  and if he pinned a tag on you 
"wounded," you had to call a  medic. The tag would specify what kind of wound you had. 
The medic would treat the wound and if it was serious, off in the ambulance you would 
go to the Aid Station. You now stayed there until the battle was over for that week. I 
tried to bribe the judge many times for a serious wound, but I never got one. On one of 
the missions the battery was judged to be captured. This gave us two days off.

                   On Friday the problem was over. Every Saturday we spent cleaning up our 
equipment. This was a hopeless job. Everything was covered with mud. Even after you 
got it somewhat clean it didn't stay that way for long. Saturday evening and 
Sunday passes were given out on an alternating basis. It was great to go to town, find a 
place where you could take a good hot shower and then sit down in a restaurant and 
have a good hot meal. Some of the time we were close to Nashville. Many of the southern 
guys would line up and go to the Grand Old Opry. Us city guys thought they were 
nuts.       

            One of the many stories that I could tell about my good friend Lt. Cassibry. He 
came from a very wealthy family. He was a brilliant young man. He was not a military 
man. Being young and rich he was more of a playboy type. He treated his men more like 
friends than subordinates. He had one bad fault, he was an alcoholic. He never let it 
interfere with his duties, but on his time off he would come to the barracks and share his 
bottle with the men that were drinkers. I was not a drinker, this made him trust me and I 
became one of his favorites. Every time he had to go someplace he would order a jeep 
and I would have to drive him. Officers were not permitted to drive and I didn't even 
have a G.I. driver's license. With that background we are now back to Tennessee. One 
Saturday night a bunch of us were sitting around a fire and along comes my favorite 
lieutenant. He calls out my name and says, "Follow me." We go down to the motor pool 
and he requisitions a jeep and off we go to town. He tells me to pull over and stop by a 
taxi stand. He went into the office, came out with another man, they get into a cab and 
leave. Half an hour later they return. The lieutenant gets out with a big bag in his hands. 
Into the jeep and back to the guys still sitting around the fire. Out comes two bottles of 
Vat 69 scotch. Tennessee is a dry state. I don't know where they went or how much it 
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cost him, but I bet it was plenty.   

            On 2 April 1944, the division moved again, from Tennessee to Camp Atterbury, 
Indiana, near Indianapolis. We traveled in the division vehicles across the mountainous 
areas of Tennessee using the unimproved back roads. In some places on the switch-back 
curves it was necessary to un-hitch the howitzers from the trucks in order to make it 
around the bend. The howitzers were then man-handled by their crews who struggled to 
get the piece hooked up again so they could proceed. The division made it to Camp 
Oglethorpe to spend that night. As we dismounted the vehicles and were 
assigned barracks for the night, the officers informed us that this post was the WAC 
training facility and anyone found outside our restricted area was subject to be hung or 
worse.

             Here again my favorite, Lt. Cassibry, came along and asked me and a few others 
if we wanted to go to the PX for a beer. The only problem with this is that the PX he 
wanted to go to was in the WAC area. Not being brave enough to refuse an officer, we 
went. We met some very nice WAC's. I must say here that after coming from the muddy 
fields of Tennessee we looked like we had come from a war. They indeed must have felt 
sorry for us. They were also told not to entertain these overnight staying G.I.'s. Before 
we could finish one bottle of beer the MP's came in. Now my playboy Lieutenant took 
over. He took the MP's over to a corner and with his charm talked them out of turning us 
in. They did however, escort us back to our area with a warning that if they caught us 
again we would be turned in.       

            The next morning was clear and cold when we loaded up to continue the move to 
Camp Atterbury. Again we had to travel on the small, lightly traveled roads. The scenery 
was very nice, but no girls to whistle at.

                 Our next night stop was at Ft. Knox, Kentucky. For me this was a blessing. My 
brother Jim was stationed there. We were escorted to our bivouac area. This was an 
open area on the outskirts of the camp. No barracks this time. I spotted a chapel not far 
from our area. I took off and entered the chapel. There was a chaplain in the office. He 
didn't know what to think of me. This was an armored camp and muddy artillery men 
didn't show up here. I told him who I was and that I had a brother on this base, could he 
find out where he was and get me to him.       

            He located him and called a taxi for me. Jim was in a heavy tank corps. They had 
their own group that was self-contained. I went into the office and a soldier asked what 
I wanted. I told him that I wanted to see my brother. He said, "Wait here." When Jim 
came around the corner and saw this cruddy looking GI he almost didn't recognize 
me.       

            When he introduced me to his friend, the First Sergeant, he told Jim to take me 
down to the barracks and clean me up. Being their own group, they had all kinds of 
supplies. Jim asked me for sizes and while I was showering he went and got me a 
complete new set of clothes. I think they burned mine.       

            In Ft. Knox a First Sergeant has his own home supplied. He was kind enough to 
invite Jim and me to supper and to stay the night. What a joy, a real home cooked meal 
and a real bed. Heavenly.       
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            After supper he drove me over to where the outfit was staying. I left so fast I 
never asked what time we were leaving the next morning. My gun crew was all around a 
fire trying to keep warm. Me, in my new uniform, walked up to them. Being dark, and 
only the light of the fire, I told them to put out the fire, they were not allowed on this 
post. Not recognizing me, you can guess where they told me to go. The look on their face 
when they did recognize me was of complete surprise. When I left to go to my nice warm 
bed, they all wished me a pleasant good night. Ha!, Ha!, Ha!, that will be the day!

                   No one in that outfit eats until the First Sergeant has been seated. With all 
the men seated, we walked in. They were used to the Sergeant and Jim, but all eyes were 
on me. Who is the special Corporal that can sit at the head table? It felt very good. Then 
it was time to say goodbye. I didn't see Jim again for over a year. Until the war was over 
and we were all home again. We then left for Camp Atterbury, Indiana.     

                        The civilians in Indiana treated the G.I.'s with open arms whenever we 
were on pass. The hospitality was unlimited, even invitations to private homes for 
Sunday dinner, if you could get a pass into town. Invitations were posted in the service 
clubs for anyone desiring to take advantage of them. This is the way that I remember 
Indianapolis, Indiana. It was what we called a "G.I.'s town".

                      We were toughened to the task ahead, training was becoming routine, and 
everybody just wanted to get at whatever laid before us. At this time the 106th was 
considered to be one of the best trained divisions in the Army. There was a great deal of 
pride and "espirit de corps" among the men. In the parlance of the day, we were a "Crack 
Outfit."        

                   I was lucky again. One of the fellows in my crew lived in Chicago. His name 
was Phillip Diasio. We called him "Nippy." Every time we could get a three day pass we 
would go up to his home. His mother and father were very nice people. He also had two 
sisters. On Saturday night Nippy, his girlfriend, Margie (his sister), her girlfriend, George 
Sparks and me, would go to the loop. In Chicago, The Loop is like our Times Square. It    
was a sailor's town. Great Lakes Naval Base being there. This made it nice for us, not too 
many soldiers.       

            This is where I got my first taste of bars. The first one we went into was very 
embarrassing for me. When asked what I wanted to drink, I didn't know what or how to 
order a drink. Lucky for me one of the girls asked for a Rum and Coke, so, liking Coke, I 
said, "I'll have one too."       

            On Sunday we would all go to church. After church his mother would cook a 
typical Italian Sunday dinner. This took us about four hours to finish. Just in time to run 
for the Greyhound Bus back to Indianapolis. This is the only time that we would get a bad 
deal. The only way back to camp in the early morning hours was by cab. We got a cab for 
there were many GI's all waiting for one. The cab would only take you a short way out of 
town and drop you off at another station. He would leave and go back for more people. 
Now it was a long wait for the part of his cab co. to pick you up for the ride         to camp. 
Many times we would only get an hour of sleep before reveille. Being young and needing 
something other than Army life, it was worth it.                                                   

            During May and June a large number of 106th Division men were transferred to 
overseas units and were replaced by men from Replacement Centers at Ft. Bragg N.C. 
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and Camp Roberts, Cal. Training had to start all over again. These new men were mostly 
from units no longer considered necessary to the war effort; ASTP programs, pilot 
training, anti-aircraft and coast artillery, etc. The need now was for infantry. 
Casualty numbers in Europe and the Pacific were climbing and it still required the 
Infantry to take and occupy territory.  

            Not long after we arrived at Camp Atterbury came a sad day for me. My pal, Lt. 
Cassibry, was a big thorn in the side of all the brass in A Battery. He was a superior 
artillery man, but in their eyes, not a good leader. His drinking and lack of  Army 
discipline was cause for a change. In our eyes he was the best. They transferred him to C 
Battery. This broke his spirit. He had taken us from green young civilians to the 
best firing battery in the Division. He then applied for Liason Pilot Training. I wrote to 
him many times while at training base. He loved it there. I don't know the circumstances, 
but he cracked up a plane so they washed him out. I really think our Battalion 
Commander had a little to do with that. Knowing how good an artillery man he was, Lt. 
Cassibry was transferred back to Battalion Headquarters. I never did see him much after. 
His pilot's training probably saved his life. At the height of the Bulge an order came down 
to burn the artillery planes because some of the pilots were not around. Lt. Cassibry 
volunteered to fly one out. He did and survived the war.       

            We now in turn received as our Battery Exec., a Lt. Kiendl from C Battery. We 
knew of him and his reputation. He was a real GI and very strict to the book guy. After 
losing our best friend, this guy didn't set too well. We spent many months under his 
leadership. I guess it was all for the better. We had to train a group of new men in a 
short period of time. The training was as usual, with very little let-up and grueling.

                   A very surprising thing happened just before leaving Camp Atterbury. Lt. 
Kiendl was transferred to B Battery and we in turn got as our Battery Exec Lt. Eric Wood. 
To this day even  Lt. Kiendl don't know the reason for the change. Lt. Wood was more of 
the Cassibry type, except he was from a military family and very professional. His father 
was a General on General Eisenhower's staff. At the same time, our Battery C.O., Captain 
Elliot Goldstein was promoted and transferred to Battalion Headquarters. We then got 
Captain Aloysius Menke.   

            The division was alerted for movement overseas in September 1944 and moved 
by train to Camp Miles Standish, Mass. on 9 and 10 October. The following month was 
spent awaiting for transportation during which time the equipment was packed and 
training was continued.       

            During our train movement the train stopped at Trenton, N.J. We opened the door 
to look around. A couple of civilians got on the train. We told them they were welcome to 
come along, that we were headed for overseas. When they saw nothing but G.I.'s it 
didn't take them very long to back off.           

            We had many Southerners and Western people in our outfit. Our next stop was in 
Grand Central Station in New York. They couldn't believe that we had gone under the 
Hudson River and now were under the ground in New York City.       

            As usual in the station in New York there were people out to make money. The 
men were carrying big baskets filled with sandwiches and candy bars. Others had sodas 
and juice. Needless to say they made lots of money on our gang.
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                   Camp Miles Standish, Mass. was a staging area for the troops awaiting 
shipment overseas from the Port of Boston. All of our equipment had been packed up and 
was on it's way overseas.

                   We spent most of our time with physical fitness and classes on abandoning 
ship. Glad we didn't have to do that. Nightly passes were given for a strict 50 miles 
radius. Also, no telling anyone that you were waiting for a ship for overseas.

                   Here is where I, (one of the few times I disobeyed orders,) along with two 
others, took off for home. We hitch-hiked to Providence, Rhode Island, then took the 
train to New York, raced to the bus depot for a bus to Paterson, N.J., then another bus to 
my house. Of course my parents were very glad to see me. Spent a few hours with them 
and a few hours with  Ann, my future wife. At around 11:00 PM my father would drive to 
New York to catch the train back to Providence. Many mornings we almost didn't make it 
back in time. One morning we didn't make reveille. In a Port of Embarkation this is 
like desertion. When we got in the men were already gone for the days workout. Lucky 
for us our first sergeant was from New York. All he said was, "I know where you were. I 
won't report you this time, don't let it happen again."

                   I went home about four times. Each time I would tell them, "When I don't 
come home anymore you will know that I am gone."  It was only later on that I realized 
what I was doing to my father. This meant that he didn't get home until around 12:30 
AM. He had to be up again at 05:30 to get ready for work. I'm  sure that when I was a 
POW what they had to go through, They were glad that I did make it home when I did.

                   November 10 the Battalion moved to the Port of Embarkation at Boston on 
special trains from Camp Miles Standish. It rained hard most of the day and the troops 
were soaking wet by the time they boarded the train. You know how it is with the  Army, 
hurry up and wait. After a short ride we de-trained directly on a covered pier and were 
served hot coffee and stale donuts by the Red Cross. Couldn't have tasted better. 
Everyone was kept moving, leading immediately onto the troop transport USCGSS 
Wakefield,  the former luxury liner SS Manhattan, sister ship to the SS Washington and 
one of the largest ships ever built in America. The battalion occupied D and E decks 
forward, sharing the ship with the 590th, 591st, 592nd Field Artillery Battalions, 
Headquarters Battery, Division Artillery, and the division Special Troops. The ship was 
crowded, there being 5 canvas bunks on pipe racks between the deck and the ceiling 
with precious little space left for passageways. We kept our packs and duffle bags in the 
bunk with us. Very few men were on deck at about 1630 hours when the ship slipped out 
of the harbor in the fog and driving rain.

                   11, 12, 13, 14 & 15 November - The North Atlantic was violently rough and 
few of us (including me) escaped becoming sea-sick. Two meals a day were served to 
those able to eat. To get the meals necessitated standing in an hour long chow line that 
started in the compartment, wound up the stairs to the next deck and ran along about 
half the length of the ship to the "mess hall". There was nothing else to do anyway, so it 
was a welcome break in the monotony and it got us away from the bunk area for a while. 
And, it didn't smell good down there either. Chow was served on a stainless steel tray 
without regard for any niceties. You could have your ice cream on top the mashed 
potatoes or if you preferred, in the beans. As one received his food, he would proceed to 
the "stand-up height" steel tables to eat. You had to hang on to both the tray and the 

file:///Z|/Web%20Sites/German%20PW%20Camps/...20Limburg/John%20Gatens/GatensJohn_589A.htm (8 of 40) [12/1/2006 1:29:48 PM]



www.IndianaMilitary.org

table to eat. The ship was rolling, so that if  you didn't hold on to something you could 
end up in your neighbors chow tray. Nobody could go out on deck in this weather.        

            About the third day out the weather became better and the seas smoothed out 
some.  It was now possible to get outside for a breath of fresh air once in a while without 
being swept overboard. Our course must have carried us farther south. The ship moved 
along fast and alone. The possibility of an encounter with a German sub was on 
everyone's mind, but nobody dwelled upon it. The ship was considerably faster than any  
German sub, I don't know about German torpedoes. Nothing but the cold winter ocean 
was in sight for about six days.            

            On the afternoon of 16 Nov. another transport was sighted as we were nearing 
the British Isles. A destroyer escort also appeared to guide the ships through the mine 
fields at the entrance to The St. George Channel and protect against possible sub attack. 
The water became extremely rough again and the destroyer escorting us completely 
disappeared in the troughs as it made way off the beam. This actually was a comfort 
since it made a torpedo attack highly unlikely. Our ship literally  plowed through the 
giant waves that crashed over the deck. The sailors on the "can" must have been taking a 
real beating. We must be getting close to England because K-Rations were issued today 
for our first meal on shore.         

            November 17th found us traveling St. George's Channel with the mountainous 
green coast of Wales on the right and in the far distant left, the east coast of Ireland. 
Plenty of traffic was passed that morning in the channel and the troops on deck were 
straining to get their first glimpse of England. The haze and fog pretty much prevented 
any sightseeing on this leg of the trip. In the afternoon our ship proceeded up the English 
Channel for Liverpool. The weather was deteriorating as the day grew late and the ship, 
being in the channel with heavy  traffic both ways, had to proceed slowly. When we were 
approaching the harbor at Liverpool the visibility was down to zero. I don't know how 
the pilot ever found a place to tie up. We docked at about 1600 hours. It was already 
dark and a drizzling rain and fog enveloped everything at the blacked out city. The 589th 
was the first outfit off the ship at about 2000 hours. As we left the ship it was to the 
music of a band on the pier. Music or not, we were all happy to be on land, even if it 
wasn't dry. The troops came off the ship marching in a file of two's, with full packs and 
toting a duffel bag on the shoulder, from the dock area to the rail station, maybe three 
blocks away, and the scene was like something straight out of a Sherlock Holmes movie. 
Fog, wet cobblestones, the city blacked out and quiet except for the sound of the troops  
walking uphill through the narrow streets. No talking much, nobody out on the street to 
watch as we marched by, just apprehension as to what was coming next. We made it to 
the rail station after the short march and after another Red Cross coffee and donut 
welcome, boarded the train. When the train was fully loaded, the doors slammed and 
with a shrill whistle, we were off to Glouster.       

            The battalion arrived at Glouster at 0400 on the morning of the 18th and, after 
departing the train, was met by the "advance party" which had left Atterbury about three 
weeks ahead of us. We were led to the camp situated at the edge of the town. It was 
small, and had previously housed the British  Gloustershire Regiment. The battalion was 
housed in individual  barracks of about 20 men each. The double decker bunks 
were equipped with straw stuffed mattress covers and we had to dis-place all of the 
mouse families that had taken up residence there in the straw since the last group 
occupied the place. There was one small pot bellied stove, burning soft coal, to ward off 
the chill, and the "ablutions" were in a separate  building at the end of a concrete 
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walkway about 150 feet away. At night, in fog and blackout conditions, you could not see 
your hand in front of your nose. No exaggeration, it really was that dark. To get to the 
"ablutions", one had to inch along the walkway until he bumped into the door of the 
other  building. It was best to take care of business while there was still some daylight. 
One large mess hall was shared by the 589th and 590th FABn's.       

            Many things in the U.S.A. were rationed. Almost everything in England was 
rationed. The reason for this was because almost everything was sent to the military. 
Food, of course, was one of the biggest items. This leads to my first trip to the mess hall. 
There was a big sign on the wall that read, “Take all you want, but eat all you take." 
Going through the line, I came upon a pot of what I thought was mashed 
potatoes.  Being hungry, I told the guy to let me have a lot of this. He did just that. 
Further down the line, I came upon another pot, but this one did have mashed potatoes 
in it. I then asked him what this other thing was. When he said, "Parsnips," my appetite 
suddenly left me. I don't like parsnips. Remember the sign? MP's were at the garbage 
cans making sure you didn't waste food. Now I found out who my friends were. No one 
would take any from me. I was the last person out of the mess hall that night. I had to 
eat all of it. I learned to ask first when in doubt.                                                     

            The period from the 18th to 30th November was spent in re-equipping the 
division with all of the necessary implements of  war. Vehicles, weapons, ammunition, 
rations, clothing and what  ever else was necessary was drawn from depots all over the 
area. Some limited training was carried on and a few "short time" passes were issued, 
(and some guys went "over the fence"), but there was really no place for us to go except 
into Glouster, a "one movie town." The town was blacked out and all businesses were 
closed by 2000. We began to appreciate the difficulties of living in a war zone.       

            Because of my experience in Camp Miles Standish, I didn't go over the fence. 
Another reason was that the First Sergeant had promised me, that if any three day 
passes were given, I would be first on the list. The reason being, he knew, that I came 
from Port Glasgow and I would be very happy to see my relatives. None were given, so I 
didn't get to Scotland. Many times as a POW, I wished that I had gone anyway.

             On 1 December we loaded our equipment onto the vehicles and departed the 
Gloustershire Barracks in convoy about 0530. We drove to what was known as a casual 
camp, which was just outside Weymouth (Portland Harbor), and arrived at about dusk.  C-
rations were issued for supper that night and we were given cots to sleep on in some 
temporary barracks on the site. This was the last time for a long while that we would be 
afforded this kind of comfort.       

            At dawn the next morning, 2 Dec., we loaded up again, and in convoy, moved 
down to the harbor where we were issued donuts, coffee and sea-sick pills for breakfast. 
Life preservers were passed out for good measure. They were a rubber tube that belted 
around the waist and could be inflated using two small Co2 bottles, (or by blowing into a 
tube.) I can't imagine that they would have done much good should we have to go into 
that cold sea. That morning the battalion loaded onto two LST's and spent the day at 
anchor in the harbor. Accommodations on these ships were far better than those on the 
transport. There weren't enough bunks to go around but the men slept in shifts and some 
made "beds" in the trucks. I recall hanging around the ship's galley and "bumming" a 
piece of sheet-cake or whatever else the "chef" was willing to hand out. Again, I avoided 
becoming sea-sick.       
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            On 3 December, the LST left Portland Harbor and crossing the English Channel, 
arrived at the mouth of the Seine River  in the evening. The water was very rough but 
only a few of the men became sea-sick this time. Anxiety was taking over. The ship 
would ride up on the huge waves and then come crashing  down, throwing the cold salty 
spray everywhere. If one would stand at one end of the "tank deck" and watch the 
overhead, you could see the ship bend and twist with the force of the beating that the 
sea was giving it. They say that an LST will go all the way over at more than 35 degrees 
roll. Well, at one point, we had a 34 1/2 degree roll. Everything was tossed to one side of 
the ship. I was on the outside deck at the time. Luckily I wasn't near an open area, I 
probably would have wound up in the water. This was quite a scare. The ship anchored 
about five or so miles off Le Harve and tossed violently in the rough water all night.       

            Next day, 4th, we cruised back and forth off the mouth of the Seine River all day 
waiting to merge into an endless  column of LST's, Liberty ships and merchantmen 
waiting their turn to enter the river. We started up the Seine in late afternoon, one ship 
in an endless column reminding me of circus elephants walking along, each holding the 
tail of the one in front. Sometime after dark we anchored upstream for the night. By this 
time in the war, the Allied Air Forces had rendered the Luftwaffe ineffective, otherwise 
an operation like this would be in extreme jeopardy. On the way, we saw for the first 
time, some of the destruction that the war had brought to France. Destroyed harbor 
facilities, bomb pocked concrete gun emplacements, sunken ships, etc. I couldn't help 
but think, "what was I getting into?"  It wasn't over yet.

             5th December, we arrived in the area of Ruoen and waited our turn to beach the 
ship and unload. At about 1500 we drove off the ship directly onto the beach and 
proceeded to a  bivouac area in the field a few miles from town. The weather was cold 
and not at all pleasant.  

            On the 6th, Headquarters, A and B Batteries waited in the bivouac area all day 
while the remainder of the battalion (on another LST) unloaded at Rouen and joined us in 
the afternoon. The remainder of the 422nd Combat Team lined up in the prescribed order 
of march, on the road ahead and behind us, to spend the night.

            We broke camp early on the morning of 7 December and proceeded to a bivouac 
area near Roselle, Belgium, arriving late in the evening. The route was via Amiens, 
Cambrai and Maubeuge. There were many bomb craters and much wrecked German  war 
material along the route, evidence of a difficult retreat from France the previous 
summer.       

            The 8th of December we marched (drove) from Roselle to  St. Vith, Belgium 
arriving early in the afternoon. Parked on a hill, just east of town, we ate lunch and soon 
got orders to move into a bivouac area near Wallerode. It seemed to be very peaceful 
with only the occasional sound of an artillery round exploding somewhere way off in the 
distance. It was very cold and the snow was quite deep. 

             Our initial task was to relieve the 2nd Div. on the Schnee Eifel, a "quiet" front 
about 27 miles wide. Pretty thin for one division, but then, nothing was happening here, 
(they told us). It was to be easy to trade places with the 2nd Division units.

                   9 December 1944, the battalion moved into the line east of  the town of 
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Laudesfeld and about one and a half miles west of  Auw, Germany. The 589th FABn took 
over the positions of the 15th FABn. The Battalion command post was set up in 
the kitchen of a substantial German house. The firing batteries took over the dugouts and 
log huts vacated by the men of the 15th FABn. The howitzers were put into the same 
emplacements  dug by the 15th and in some cases they were simply swapped since it 
was easier than trying to extricate the pieces already in place. "A" battery was placed on 
the south side of the road to Auw and "B" and "C" batteries on the north side. There was 
much snow here and the drivers were having big problems once they left the hard road. 
Service Battery was sent into a position a few miles to the rear, about four miles south of 
Shonberg, Belgium. The veterans of the 2nd Division  assured their successors that they 
were in a very quiet sector where nothing ever happened. They hated to leave and when 
the 589th men saw what relatively comfortable quarters the 2nd's  men were leaving 
they could understand that. We had been prepared to pitch puptents. Things were 
looking up. By 1630 registration was completed by "A" Battery and the battalion fired 
harassing fire that night. We were feeling rather secure. After all, our infantry was 
between us and the Germans. It sounded good to me. 

                       Because of all the work that the men of the 15th FABn had done and 
placing our gun in the exact spot that they had used, we had very little work to do. We 
used the same foxholes that they had dug. They had also built a small log cabin. This we 
used to get warm and sleep in. In a position like this, every member of the gun crew had 
to stand guard duty at night. This included me and the Sgt. I will tell you, that first night 
was       very nerve racking. Not knowing very much about the situation or from what 
direction the enemy might come from, every sound  was a cause for concern. Two hours 
felt like eight. The severe cold made it even more difficult.

                    December 10 to 15 - The 422nd Infantry Regiment, which the 589th FABn 
was supporting, was occupying the first belt of  pillboxes of The Siegfried Line which had 
been cracked at this point the previous fall. The Germans were well dug in opposite the 
422nd in pillboxes and held other defensive positions in the area of the Schnee-Eifel, a 
wooded ridge about 3 miles to the front. The enemy communications center for this area 
was Prum which was at maximum range (12,000 yards) for "A" Battery.

                    During this period there was little activity other than a few patrol actions. 
Few observed missions were fired due to the poor visibility. The battalion did, however, 
have a substantial unobserved, harassing program which was fired every night. The 
forward observer adjusted by sound, using  high angle fire, which made it necessary to 
re-dig the gun pits. Alternate positions were selected and surveyed by the survey officer 
and his party. There were some reports of enemy activity but nothing, apparently, more 
than routine truck and troop movements. Headquarters Battery crews reported being 
fired upon on the 15th and that night an enemy recon plane circled the area for an hour 
or more. Numerous flares were seen to the flanks of the battalion and an enemy patrol 
was reported to be in the area. At night, watching across the snow covered fields, one's 
eyes tend to play tricks. On more than one occasion an outpost guard would fire away at 
some movement out in front of him, only to find out in the morning that he had "killed" a 
tree stump or boulder.                                            

          Early in the morning, before dawn, at 0605, on 16 Dec. our position came under a 
barrage of German artillery fire. I was at breakfast in a quite nice log cabin. I had a good 
plate of pancakes and strawberry jam. The shells were hitting the trees. Shell fragments 
and tree limbs were falling all over the place. The official thing to do under these 
conditions was to get back to the gun. It wasn't easy, trying not to get hit with anything 
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that would wound or kill you. Little did I know at that time, that breakfast would be the 
last standard meal that I would have to eat for four and one half months. During  the 
shelling, many rounds exploded real close and showered dirt and tree limbs about, but 
also there were quite a few duds that only smacked into the ground.  Those were the 
"good" ones as far as I was concerned. After about 30 minutes the shelling ceased. I did 
not have the foggiest notion what was going on except that we were under attack and 
things were becoming serious. (Frank Aspinwall reported in his book that from an 
inspection of the fragments, somebody determined that the enemy was using 88mm, 
105mm and 155mm guns. I can't  imagine that anyone was actually concerned about 
that bit of trivia at the time.)  Wire crews were sent out to repair the phone lines that 
were out. At about 0800 the battery positions  again came under heavy artillery fire, and 
again no casualties  were reported.       

            At about 0900 communication was again established with  Division and with the 
422 Infantry Regiment. However the lines were soon shot out again by the enemy 
artillery and after 1300, the battalion was, for all practical purposes, isolated from it's 
supported regiment.       

            The Battalion Communications Officer and his assistant  Comm. O. went forward 
to the Infantry Regimental C.P. after 0900 and while returning were fired upon and the 
Comm. O. was wounded. He was brought in and later evacuated.

                   At 0915 a report was received of enemy patrols in Auw. An observer from "C" 
Battery went forward to a position commanding a view of Auw and from there directed 
effective fire on the town until he was pinned down by small arms fire.  "C" Battery was 
unable to bring guns to bear on Auw due to a high mask of trees between it and the 
target. 

             At about 1030 a patrol was sent out, as additional  security, to man defensive 
positions along the road from Auw. Since it was now apparent that the enemy held Auw, 
an attack from that direction was expected. This patrol soon reported small arms fire 
from enemy infantry moving out of Auw. An O.P. was set up in the attic of a building 
being used as quarters for part of Headquarters Battery. At about 1500 three 
enemy tanks were seen coming along the road from Auw toward the  battalion command 
post. At about 400 yards range the lead tank opened fire on one of our outposts 
damaging three machine guns. Small arms fire was directed against the tank, but it just 
"buttoned up" and kept coming. The lead tank now came into view of "A" Battery. With 
the way that the battery was  situated, my gun crew was the only one that could get a 
shot at it. The tank was riding on the road from Auw to Bleialf. We were located about 50 
yards lower than he was and on his left. Before we could get a shot at him there were 
four GI's running down the hill towards our position. I had to get in front of  our gun and 
signal them to lay down which they did. I now tracked the tank and missed with my first 
shot. Immediately reloading and firing, I hit it this time. I fired and hit him again and it 
burst into flames. The enemy crew bailed out and was killed by small arms fire. The 
second and third tanks also took hits but were able to withdraw to defiladed positions.  
One of the tanks kept up harassing fire from a hull down  position but counter fire was 
directed at it, and it is believed that it too was knocked out. The effective work of a patrol 
and our firing batteries kept the whole battalion position from being overrun that 
afternoon.       

            The 2nd Battalion of the 423rd Regiment, in division  reserve, was ordered to hold 
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positions in front of the 589th while it withdrew to the rear. ("Strategic Withdrawal" 
they call it.) Meanwhile, the 589th held on in the face of heavy small arms and machine 
gun fire until the infantry was able to move into position shortly after midnight.

                      Anticipating a move, a recon party had been sent to select positions for a 
relocation about 3 miles south of Schonberg, near Service Battery's position on the 
Belgian-German border.       

            About 0400, on the morning of the 17th, the battalion was ordered to move out 
for the new position. By now the enemy was astride the only exit from the "C" Battery 
position so that it was unable to move. The Battalion C.O., Lt. Col. Kelly, and his Survey 
Officer, stayed behind and tried to get infantry  support to help extricate this battery but 
they were not successful. The infantry had plenty of their own problems. "C" Battery 
never was able to move and was subsequently surrounded and all were taken prisoner, 
including the Battalion C.O., Col. Kelly, and the Survey Officer.       

            Moving out of our position was not an easy task. The road that we came in on was 
made by 2nd Division engineers. They called it a corduroy road. It was a dirt path that 
the engineers had embedded railroad ties in. With the heavy trucks coming in and out 
with supplies the snow turned the dirt into mud. The mud now had become deep ruts. 
The big trucks churned the icy muck into a paste in which the guns sank almost hub 
deep. Hostile small arms and artillery fire was sweeping the area. Snow blew into 
sweating faces in the night. The wind  howled through the trees, each of which might be 
hiding an infiltrating enemy soldier. All of the gun crews had to help all the guns and 
trucks pull and push until we had cleared the corduroy road. Not having any sleep that 
night and being covered with mud and snow, we were cold and bushed.       

            Our new position was a field on the right side of the road that runs north from 
Bleialf to schonberg. We were about a mile and a quarter from Schonberg itself. We 
arrived with only three guns and went into our positions. During the night Sgt Alford's 
truck had run into the barrel of one of the howitzers  and caused the radiator to start 
leaking. With the truck overheating, they had to lag behind. When they finally arrived, Lt. 
Wood held him on the road to act as anti-tank defense.     

                     Battalion HQ. commenced to set up it's C.P. in a farmhouse almost on the 
Belgium-Germany border, having arrived just  before daylight. At about 0715 a call was 
received from Service Battery saying that they were under attack from enemy tanks and 
infantry and were surrounded. Shortly after that, the lines went out. Immediately after 
that a truck came up the road from the south and the driver reported enemy tanks not far 
behind. All communications went dead so a messenger was  dispatched to tell "A and "B" 
Batteries to displace to  St. Vith.       

            Lt. Wood gave the order which in artillery terms is, "march order." He also made 
it clear that he meant "right now." Having been in this position for only about one and 
one half hours, we knew that the enemy was very close. I was waiting for our Sgt. to 
give the order, but I couldn't find  him. Being second in command, I gave my men the 
order to pack up and be ready to move. I looked all over the area and just couldn't find 
my Sgt. Shook. The two other crews started to move, so I jumped in the truck and gave 
the order to go. I was now in command.       

            Never knowing when something that bugs you turns out to be a good thing. 
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Before we left the first position they asked that one of our men be assigned to the group 
that was leaving to search out the next position. This bugged me because that left me a 
man short for the tough job that we had in front of us. This turned out to be a blessing. 
He told me not to go out the way we came in. He knew an easy way out because he used 
it in checking out the position.

                   One of the other crews followed us. We got out on the road  and started 
racing for Schonberg. Our destination was as  ordered, St. Vith. Sgt. Alford, who was 
already on the road, ditched his truck and hooked up to a supply truck and was right on 
our heels. At this time artillery shells and small  arms fire could be heard all over the 
place.       

            Sgt Scannapico, who was in charge of the fourth gun  started to leave the area the 
same way that we came in. Before they reached the road, the truck got stuck. Lt. Wood, 
knowing this, stayed with that crew. They pushed and shoved like crazy until they got on 
the road.       

            Our three guns got through Schonberg just in time. The Germans were now all 
over the place. Sgt. Scannapico along  with Lt. Wood, had lost precious time. When they 
got to Schonberg they were met in the middle of the road by a German  tank. Sgt. 
Scannapico jumped out of the truck and started firing at the tank. He was killed on the 
spot. The tank opened fire and had a direct hit on the truck, killing the driver.  Lt. Wood 
and the rest of the crew bailed out of the truck and ran for the cover of a brook. With the 
infantry firing at them, the crew put their hands up and surrendered. Lt. Wood, leaping 
the ditch, ran, dodging bullets all the way, reached a tree line and disappeared.

                   Even to this day, 50 years later, there is much controversy about what 
happened to Lt. Wood. I won't go into it here. I will, at the end of my story, add some 
articles about him.        

            The remainder of the battalion assembled again west of  St. Vith where they were 
joined by Service Battery of the 590th  FA Bn. They were ordered into position north of 
St. Vith to establish a road block to protect the town. Later, that night, they were 
withdrawn to a bivouac area in the vicinity of  St. Vith.   

            December 18 - After this halt, orders were received from the Division Artillery 
Commander, General McMahon, to proceed to the west and be prepared to take up 
positions in the vicinity of Recht. The battalion was halted at 0100 and remained on the 
road until 0700 when it began moving forward again. At about 0800 the column was 
halted again and word passed down that enemy tanks and infantry had attacked 
HQ Battery, 106th Div. Arty. on the same road to the west. The  column was turned and 
pulled off the road into a clearing. A perimeter defense was organized and a road block 
set up with  two guns covering the approach from the north. A noon meal was  served. 
Orders were next received to withdraw to the vicinity of Bovigny. What was left of the 
battalion loaded up and  proceeded to the designated place in good order. 

                   The preceding night the Germans had dropped parachute  troops into the area 
near St. Vith. They were not in great  strength but they did a lot of shooting and spread 
confusion along the communications routes west of St. Vith.
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                   At Bovigny the C.O. of the 174th Field Artillery Group requested that the three 
howitzers remaining with the battalion and the personnel be sent to positions near 
Charan. This was agreed to and the battalion was split into two  groups: Group A 
composed of the three 105 howitzer sections,  Fire Direction Center people, most of the 
officers, and part of our meager ammunition supply. I was with this group. Group B was 
composed of the remainder of the battalion plus some men from the 590th Service 
Battery.         

            Group A departed for Cortil, went into position and laid the guns to fire on Charan. 
The town was reconnoitered and no enemy was found so the group was withdrawn to 
Bovigny for the rest of the night. Observers were sent out with the outposts and 
preparations made to fire on any enemy coming on the scene. Group B left Bovigny and 
traveled west through Salmchateau and bivouacked for the night on a side road near 
Joubieval.                

            On 19 Dec 1944, in the afternoon, what was remaining of the 589th FABn arrived 
at the crossroads at Baraque de Fraiture to establish some kind of blocking force against 
the German advance. Whether or not there was any intelligent planning involved in this 
move I really don't know. I had the feeling that nobody knew anything and that we 
would resist here in this place as long as possible and hope to get help before we were 
blown away. There were approximately 100 men and three 105mm howitzers to set up 
the defense at this time.  

            The weather was cold, wet and foggy with some snow already on the ground. 
Visibility was variable, clearing from maybe fifty yards to two or three hundred on 
occasion.  

            I didn't even know who was in charge of the rag-tag group that I was with until I 
saw Major Elliot Goldstein out in the open, verbally bombasting the enemy (where ever 
they were) with all the curse words he could think of, and at the top of his booming 
voice. I thought at the moment that he won't be around too long if there are any 
Germans out there to hear him. Apparently there were none, he drew no fire.

            The three howitzers were ordered into position to defend  the crossroads. This 
was no longer a firing battery position.  Each gun was placed at a strategic position 
covering all the directions that the enemy may come from. I never saw any of  the other 
gun crews again. My gun was placed on the crossroad proper. The gun was facing east, 
towards the town of Regne.  Across the street from me was a farm house and a barn. 
After getting the gun in place and digging fox holes, I walked  across to the barn. To my 
surprise there were a few GI's already in there and they were talking to an elderly man 
in  French. I asked them what he was saying. They told me that he was the owner of the 
property.       

            I then went into the house that had been taken over by  some cooks, although 
they never cooked anything that I know of  anyway. Also a first aid station was set up. A 
fire had been  started in the stove and the heat felt really good. For the remainder of the 
time that we were there, one half of the crew were permitted periodically to go over and 
get warm and have a  cup of coffee.       

            Next morning, 20 December, the weather remained miserable,  cold, wet, and 
some more snow for good measure. Hearing the  squeaky sounds of tank treads coming 
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toward you is a very  frightening sound, especially at night. However, it was daytime and 
I was very happy to see that it was one of ours. He then pulled around the corner and 
parked right in front of the farmhouse.

                   The men in the tank jumped out and waved, "hello." One of them walked up 
to the corner and looked down the road in the direction that my gun was pointing. One 
minute later he fell to the ground with a bullet between the eyes. Captain Brown, who 
was now in charge of the three guns, having witnessed this  came running over to me 
and ordered three rounds  fired into the trees down the road. It had to be a sniper. We 
never heard  any more from that direction. I have thought about that ever  since. This 
man was just across the road from me. How come he never fired at me? Thank God he 
didn't. I can only rationalize it like this. I always had a helmet on, he didn't. We were 
partially concealed under a tree line, and he was out in the open, or, he (the sniper) had 
only just arrived at that time.       

            About a couple of hundred yards from the crossroads, my good friend, John 
Schaffner and another man from B Battery, Ken Sewell, were in their foxhole as forward 
observers. Around midnight they heard strange noises in the fog. It was very  dark and 
the visibility was extremely limited. When they were able to discern what was making 
the strange noise, it was about a dozen Germans on bicycles. They stopped in the road 
when they came upon the daisy chain of mines that had been strung across the road. 
Being unaware of John's presence, not 10 yards away, they stood there in front of them. 
The Germans were talking over what to do next. John could tell that the language was 
not English. They also had on square helmets. John and his companion were in big 
trouble. He whispered the situation over the telephone to Captain brown. Captain Brown 
told him to keep your heads down and when you hear me fire my .45 the first time, we 
will sweep the road with all we got. When that stops I'll fire my .45 again, then we will 
hold fire until you two can return to the C.P.  MAKE IT QUICK! The word  was passed 
around to all the people on the crossroads. We took  up positions with carbine in hand 
and on command from Captain Brown, everyone let loose with all the fire power 
available. I was lying next to a quad multiple .50's machine gun. The sound was 
deafening. On command we stopped firing. At first there was complete silence. Then for 
the rest of the night all you  could hear were men crying and moaning with pain. The 
records say it was an eighty man patrol, however John says he only saw around twelve.

                   The next day, 21 December, a detail was sent out to have a look around, John 
Schaffner reports that they found several dead Germans in the snow, no live ones. The 
enemy apparently pulled back and took their wounded with them.

                   During the morning hours enemy tanks were reported as being in Samree. 
The town of Samree was to the southwest of us. My gun was pointing northeast. Major 
Parker came over and told me to turn the gun around 180 degrees. We had to move it 
around until we found an opening in the trees where we could fire in that direction. 
Captain Brown and Major Parker with their maps and good math, figured out the 
elevation, direction and powder bags to be used. The only line of sight we had was the 
roof line of a house. Captain Brown then told me to come as close to the roof line as 
possible without hitting it. I lined up in my sight but was still not sure. I then had to look 
through the bore of the tube. Keeping my fingers crossed we loaded a shell and I said, 
"OK, FIRE!" Luckily, we missed the house. We then fired three more rounds. I had no 
idea where those shells would land. Later on I found out that we  did indeed send those 
tanks running for cover.                
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            Later on that day two German prisoners were brought into the CP. John Schaffner 
was detailed to guard them. One, an officer, spoke good English. He warned them that 
the German Army was coming through us and would kill anybody in the way, so we could 
save everybody a lot of trouble by surrendering to him right then and there. Ha! Ha!  

            To get a better picture of our situation at the crossroads, one must consider the 
situation. The krauts were swinging high, wide and handsome to the northwest from 
Houffalize. The 1st Army defensive line was consolidating  slowly, the 82nd AB Div held 
what amounts to the last solid  position on the Army right flank with the 3rd Armored on 
its right extending only a tenuous screen southwestward down to the Ourthe river.        

            That right flank of the 82nd just had to be hammered down tight, protected from 
Hotton to Salmchateau. For the moment it was flapping in the breeze and the crossroads 
was the sensitive point.  

            Through it all Major Parker was everywhere, observing at the outposts, moving 
from place to place along the perimeter as one attack succeeded another. Wounded by a 
mortar shell in the afternoon while adjusting fire, he refused to be evacuated until he 
lost consciousness. Major Goldstein succeeded in command. Big mistake!!!

             On Dec. 22 a patrol was sent out during the night to reconnoiter enemy positions 
to the east and south. The patrol  reported the enemy digging in along the road to the 
east inside the woods.  

            It was expected that the Germans would attack at about  0530. Artillery rounds 
from all three guns were fired to simulate a counter-attack. No German attack 
materialized. Around noon a company of the 325th Glider Infantry of the 82nd AB Div 
arrived. A few of them told us that we were safe now, they were going out in front of us 
to protect us. When the  Germans decided to come at us, there wasn't anybody out there 
to stop them.

                   Dec. 23rd During the early morning the enemy infiltrated  into the woods to 
the north and set up a line in front of the woods running to the east-west road. At about 
0430 an SS Offizier patrol attacked from the south-east at the same time  an attack was 
made from east and north. All attacks were beaten off and an SS lieutenant and a Sgt. 
were taken prisoner. Interrogation disclosed that the 2nd SS Panzer  Division was 
approaching from the south.  

            Even with the reinforcements of the infantry company it was apparent that 
morning that a coordinated enemy attack  could not be withstood. So Major Goldstein left 
the crossroads with the SS lieutenant and Sgt. He was going to try to convince the 
commander of the 3rd Armored Division that he needed help. This is why I said, "Big 
mistake."  

           Major Parker had been ordered a few days earlier to withdraw and re-organize. He 
disobeyed those orders because he knew the importance of that corner. I feel that he 
would have never left, if he didn't get wounded, without taking his men with him.

           Major Goldstein, knowing that the situation is now hopeless, we are out of 
ammunition and medical supplies, he takes off. If he had of stayed, he would have 
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realized that the order to withdraw was still in effect. We possibly might have been 
around to fight another day.

                   At about 1530 in the afternoon all hell broke loose. Captain Brown came 
around and told us to be ready, when the artillery attack stopped, the infantry and tanks 
would be coming in. Half of my crew were in the house getting warm. I made a run for it 
to get my men back to the gun to be ready for the assault.       

            Once inside, I got my men together, but we never did make it back to the gun. I 
was standing in the doorway ready to go when a shell hit. The concussion picked me up 
and sent me flying against the back wall. I sat there a few minutes in a  daze. I had to 
feel for my legs and arms to make sure they were still there.         

            At about this same time the farmhouse itself was now being  hit with incoming 
shells. The roof was on fire and some of the fellows were trying to put the fire out. In 
this building there were also some wounded men. Our main concern at this  point was, 
how are we going to help them. Our concern was soon ended. The shelling stopped and 
at the same time there was a German tank outside the door. His gun was pointing in the 
door. A German officer shouted out, "Are you coming out or do I tell this guy to fire?" No 
one can be a hero when a tank is  staring down your throat.    
  

 
This is the building I was in when, taken prisoner.

            Some of the surrounding area men had already been rounded up and were 
standing in rows on the road. We filed out of the building and joined the rows of men. 
They made us remove our overcoats so they could search us. They took anything of 
value.  I was wearing my wife's (although not at that time) high school ring. That was 
gone. The other items were money, cigarettes and chocolate (every GI had a few 
concentrated chocolate bars called "D-Bars", that didn't melt. They were  hard and you 
had to scrape off shreds, or if you had good  teeth you could break off a chunk), my 
gloves, my wool knit cap and my fountain pen. For some reason they would not take 
wedding rings. Either they were superstitious or they had some respectability. It was 
now approximately 5:50 PM. The weather was bitter cold, but now I had no overcoat, 
gloves or wool knit cap. It was a cold helmet and field jacket from here on. How I made 
that winter with just those clothes I'll never know.

                   The following are the words of Col. Dupuy for the Infantry Journal Press, and 
that's the story of Parker's Crossroads (named for Major Parker and to this day is known 
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as Parker's Crossroads) and the three piece 589th Field Artillery Battalion, the end of the 
trail for the three howitzers of Battery "A" which Eric Wood had gotten out of the Schnee 
Eifel. It is a story for American artillerymen to cherish  along with the saga of O'Brien's 
guns at Buena Vista."       

            One cannot help wondering what would otherwise have happened to the thinly 
spread 82nd Airborne Division's right flank as the 2nd SS Panzer Division moved in for 
the kill.       

.
This could possibly be my Howitzer. It
was found near the corner where I was positioned

            After fifty years it is impossible for me to retrace my route of march as a P.O.W. I 
didn't know it then, we had no idea of where we were or where we were going. I can 
only reflect back on some of the events that happened.       

            On the road at Parker's Crossroads were assembled approximately fifty men. 
After they completed the search, we were marched off in the direction of Prum, Germany. 
we walked for about three hours and were put into a big mill. This was the start of what 
was to be our way of life for a long time. No roof, windows or beds. Pick a spot on the 
floor, sometimes wood, sometimes dirt, lay down and go to sleep. Everyone was 
exhausted, hungry and cold. With the cold and being hungry, I still was able to sleep. It 
was probably the first real sleep that I had had for almost a week.

             The next morning, to our surprise, the combat troops that marched us here were 
gone and we were now being guarded by a rag-tag looking bunch in their fifties and 
sixties, appearing ancient to us who were half their age. The great equalizer was the 
weapons in their hands. We were then given a slice of dark brown bread (which I was 
told is made out of sawdust as a good part of the ingredients) and a piece of sausage 
type meat. It was approximately 1 & 1/2 inches in diameter and 2 inches  long. Not 
knowing when I had anything to eat last, this was  pretty good. I didn't know at the time 
this had to last you until tomorrow.

             We then started to march toward the town of Gerolstein, Germany. How long it 
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took I don't remember, but every day was the same. We stayed in some bombed out 
building at night and  marched out the next day. We now have expanded our group to 
approximately 150. It was becoming harder and harder to find a good spot in the 
building at night to sleep. Space was  becoming smaller all the time. Even the slice of 
bread was thinner and the length of meat was shorter.

                   Along this route we encountered another one of our near death experiences, 
which we will run into many times in the future. Off in the distance we could see some of 
our own fighter planes. They would circle around until they were ninety degrees to our 
line of march. Then they would come at us from the side with their guns a-blazing. When 
in the distance they saw a column of soldiers marching down a road in Germany, they 
would assume they were Germans. We were told not to run, but to start waving and 
holding up your helmet or  overcoat and wave like crazy. After the first few planes flew   
over they would radio back and the rest would not fire. Now they would circle around 
and come down the road right at you. They would be at tree top level as they went by. 
They would dip their wings from side to side, we could see the pilot and he would wave 
at us with a gesture like, "Gee, I'm sorry."  Needless to say, some helpless GI's were 
killed and wounded. Walking wounded we could help, seriously wounded had to be  left 
there. I never knew what happened to them, my guess is they were shot. The enemy had 
enough problems taking care of all the P.O.W.'s  They had no time or facilities to care for 
the dying.    

            I finally arrived at Gerolstein. This was a small town, however it was a major 
railroad center. Again it was a big mill of some kind. It must have been a storage facility. 
It had a cement floor and large storage bins from floor to ceiling up the walls. If you 
were lucky you could get into one of the bins. Each one could hold three guys. It was 
much  better than sleeping on the cold concrete and they were warmer.

                   It now began to sink into our minds that the future was going to be horrible. 
I pictured in my mind that we would be placed in a camp some place with barracks and 
beds, mattress and blankets, regular meals and a place for exercise. What we got was 
cold, dirty, bombed out mills. Hundreds of men crammed into a space that is too small. 
The mood of the GI's was now  starting to get ugly. Many things contribute to this. Being 
hungry and cold, and now a new problem started to develop, dysentery. In these 
buildings there were no bathroom facilities. You had to go outside in a big pit that had 
been dug for that purpose. It doesn't take much thinking to picture climbing down from 
one of the bins in the dark, trying not to step one someone sleeping on the floor, to get 
outside. forget that most of the men did not make it. Soiling yourself was now a big 
problem. You had to go outside, take off your under pants and outer garments, often 
including your shoes and socks, turn them inside out and try to wash them out with   
snow. Picture what happens now, putting on all the wet clothes and freezing to death 
until they dried up.       

            The first food offered was a beverage, delivered in old wooden tubs that looked 
like those our grandmother used to boil clothes in. The German equivalent of coffee was 
our first experience with "ersatz." While it looked good and was hot, the appearance of 
being coffee was all that it offered. The brew came from an unidentified burnt grain that 
developed color and some indescribable flavor. Because it was hot, often times it was 
used for shaving. I say shaving. It was more like torture. Who ever had a razor, with only 
one blade, would pass it around. I'll bet there had been 500 shaves on that one blade, it 
only pulled the whiskers out.       
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            The soup in those old tubs was not a proper term for the concoction created out of 
rotten potatoes, turnips and pine needles. The nourishment was negligible and the flavor 
and texture repugnant.       

            Though most of us had never before eaten such bad fare, we managed to get it 
down. Some men just could not eat it at all. These poor souls vomited when their 
stomachs refused to accept this offensive food. What little nourishment offered was lost 
to many of these men who were either unable to swallow the swill or to keep it in their 
system. Their physical condition deteriorated rapidly. All of us were eating our own 
bodies.       

            One day we would get the soup. It would be delivered to the building in the old 
tubs. Two men would be assigned to dish it out. Each man thrust his eating utensil, 
helmet, canteen cup or other container at the man you hoped would be your friend and 
give you a little more. This never happened, no matter how big your container was. One 
ladle per person. Now the cry was to get that ladle down to the bottom of the pot. This 
way you may get some of the stock and not all water. The ones that had to use their 
helmet were in trouble. Don't forget that his helmet had many uses along the way and 
eating out of it was only one. I was lucky enough to have picked up a clean tin can along 
the way and this became one of my prized possessions.       

            The next day it would be a slice of bread and a small piece of the sausage type 
meat. The meat wasn't a too bad  tasting fare. This however is another matter. The 
German army developed the bread reputed to last for months without becoming moldy or 
stale, no matter what climate or storage facility. Whether German troops ever ate this 
ration or if it was purely a Stalag food, I never did find out. This dung  colored bread with 
the texture and taste of dry sawdust was to be our primary solid provision for the next 
four months.       

            Usually a loaf of bread (about the size of a standard loaf  of our bread) was 
divided between six men. If a new group of men came in that day, it would be seven 
men. To cut a loaf of  bread into six or seven equal pieces is an impossible task. The cries 
of inequality soon created systems designed to eliminate favoritism. Each day a different 
man was selected to cut the bread. The cutter got last choice. One group cut cards to 
establish the order of selection while others simply rotated the order.       

            The process of cutting the loaf, the portion selection process and the pitifully 
meager meal became the highlight of the day. Table conversation did not exist. Each man 
took his ration to as private a corner as he could find to relish the taste and texture of 
this wretched food with no distractions. The sight of strong young men wetting a finger 
tip to pick up  bread crumbs from the floor gave mute evidence to the  degrading power 
of desperate hunger.       

            Someone broke into a storage shed and stole some onions.  To find the culprits 
the Germans announced that they were  poisonous gladioli bulbs. Apparently the 
perpetrators chose  death before punishment as they were never found.

                   Every morning around 07:30 and every afternoon around 5:00 PM we had to 
assemble in the courtyard for roll call. The  irritating German Funf mann (five man) 
counting system was the  standard every where we went. During our captivity we would 
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be counted hundreds of times. The process never varied. It involved lining up in a column 
of five abreast. Two guards moved down the column counting by fives. The German 
soldier, we would discover, as with many other tasks, made a real  project out of what 
should be a very simple process. They often lost count and had to start over. This 
incessant counting was a constant irritation. Of course, I can't blame it all on them. Our 
group would help them get a different count from each other. When the first guard 
passed, some of the guys would step up after they were counted and make a new  line, 
so the one guard would always come out with five more than the other guard. So, they 
would start again, over and  over until they got mad and then you stayed in line.       

            After roll call they then would ask for volunteers to go  on a work detail. If they 
got as many as they needed the rest would go back into the building. When they didn't 
get volunteers they would count off as many as they needed. Some times you would go 
two or three days in a row. Believe it or not, some people would volunteer, if that day 
you didn't feel too sick or weak, it was better than sitting around in the cold building.

                   The work that had to be done was clearing the debris off the roads or railroad 
tracks after the bombing. Then fill in the craters with dirt. One time all I had to do was 
chip the mortar off  bricks, then stack them up.       

            One day a fellow in my outfit, Charlie Jacelon, and I went out on the same detail. 
While we were at work about one hundred B-17 planes came overhead. This caused the 
guards to take cover. We also started for cover. Charlie and I went into the bombed out 
cellar of a home. We then went scrounging around . Much to our surprise we found two 
jars of something that the family had canned. Now, the trick was to get them back to the 
compound without anyone seeing them. The only way to do it was to take off your field 
jacket and roll the jar in it. This we did, and we must have looked crazy on a bitter cold 
day, two guys walking back into the area with no coat on. We waited until everyone was 
asleep before we opened the gift from heaven. To this day I don't know what it was, but 
it was good. It was like Christmas eve, opening your presents.  

             I did mention that Gerolstein was a major railroad center. The reason that so 
many men were brought to this compound was that they would collect a train load and 
then ship them further into Germany.       

            Now it came to be my turn to be moved on. When they had  enough men for a 
train load, you went. How they determined who went and who stayed, I don't know. I 
went and Charlie stayed. There were about five hundred in the line of march. We were    
loaded into old 40 & 8 style boxcars. Sixty men to a car. These boxcars are much smaller 
than the ones in the U.S.A. There were two small windows high on each side near the end 
of the car. The windows were covered with barbed wire. There was  a metal can for our 
facility. It was the size of a five gallon can.       

            The sanitary conditions, using the can, was terrible. many  of us had diarrhea. We 
could not all lie down to rest or sleep at the same time. We slept in shifts and when you 
did get  settled down, someone would have to run for the can. Usually there was 
someone over it. It caused a lot of problems since a man with diarrhea has little "holding 
power." The stench was terrible.       

            I was in this boxcar for two days and we never moved. The  tracks up ahead had 
been bombed after we got into the boxcars. The doors were jerked open by armed guards 
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who screamed what seemed like threats of terrible retribution if we did not  move. "Raus 
schnell!!" (Out, quickly!!) Our legs had a hard time holding us up because of the cold and 
the lack of  movement in our cramped quarters. We were filthy. Uniforms were fouled 
from the dirt of the battlefield and our own or  someone else's excrement. Everyone 
looked confused and bone-weary from the lack of sleep and food. If there was any 
military discipline left in us, the abuse to our bodies had buried it under the the pressure 
of survival of the fittest. We no longer looked like soldiers, but like the refugees we had 
seen in newsreels.     

            We now had to start the long days of marching and nights locked up in some 
musty, filthy old bombed out building. The good thing about it was we did get our ration 
of bread and meat. The first we had in about two and a half days.

                   Many days later we marched down what was the main street in Cologne. In 
front of us was the sight of a magnificent cathedral. The building was in very good 
condition. The roof was gone and the windows were blown out, but the big spires  and 
the rest of the building had very little damage. (Little did I know that on two trips back, 
forty and fifty years later, I would be lucky enough to spend some time in and around 
this beautiful structure.) We walked around the church and onto the bridge. This is 
where we crossed the Rhine River. Two weeks later that bridge was hit by the Air Corps 
and destroyed. Our next big stop was at Bonn.  

            One thing came very apparent on these long marches. The amount of destruction 
that was done by the Air Corps. Walking through Bonn was the same as all the other 
large cities. Every building had been destroyed and rubble was all over the road.

                   Upon entering the building (in Bonn) I was very happy to find another friend 
of mine from my battery. He was Hugh Mays, one of the cooks in my outfit. Hugh was one 
of the two fellows that choose to get married a week before we left for overseas.  (Big 
mistake.) As soon as I saw him I knew that he was not in too good of a shape. He had 
lost a lot of weight and was very weak. That was the reason that he was there. When the 
last group left here the sick were left behind.       

            I was there for two days. When we were leaving he said that up to now he didn't 
know any of the fellows and he would force himself to leave with me. My own condition 
wasn't great but I felt that I would have to help him as much as I could. I told him that 
we would get as close to the front of the line as we could. In this way we would set the 
pace. The nearer to the rear you are the worst it is to keep up. As the march proceeded 
he got weaker and weaker. At this point I had him lean on me and I almost carried him 
along. We finally reached our destination, Limburg, (Stalag XII A.) This was a large 
prisoner transit camp. The first time that I was in a barracks type camp. This camp was 
also near a major rail center. Although they had barracks, they also were without 
windows and NO beds. Again, it was grab a piece of the floor.       

            Upon entering the main road we were met by some German officers. We were 
separated, the sick went to the barracks on one side of the road and the rest to the other. 
At this point Hugh and I separated. I never saw him again. I learned when I arrived 
home that he had died a few days after he arrived there. I also learned that his wife was 
pregnant. Another child that will never see his father and a young girl is a widow. The 
exact reason why I would not marry before going over seas.
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             I stayed in Limburg about two weeks. The food pattern and work details were the 
same as stated before. The only difference here was that a non-com did not have to work 
unless he volunteered. At first I did not volunteer, but after a few days I did because the 
time went by faster. The reason for this is because at this camp we were signed up with 
the Red Cross and the Germans did abide by some of the Geneva Convention rules for 
P.O.W.'s. Another rule that they didn't live up to was the distribution of Red Cross 
parcels. We were supposed to get a food parcel once a week and a cloths parcel once a 
month.       

            The food parcel consisted of vitamin "C" tablets, dried milk, three packets of "M & 
M's", two small boxes, four in a box of cigarettes, a small roll of toilet paper and a tin of 
meat. The clothing parcel had clean underwear, sox, pants and a shirt, some even had a 
sweater. I didn't receive any of the clothes parcels and only two of the food parcels in my 
four months as a P.O.W.       

            One unfortunate accident happened at this camp before I arrived there. On 
Christmas Eve 1944 there were 63 officers of the 106th Division killed here in a bombing 
raid. Two of them were from the 589th FABn. The British Air Force had a mission to bomb 
the railroad yards. One of the bombs made a direct hit on the officers 
barracks.                                             

           Again it came time to leave. We marched down to the rail yards and were again 
locked into box cars. For two days we didn't move an inch. Early on the third day we 
were right in the middle of an air raid. We could hear the bombs exploding. The box cars 
were shaking violently and dirt and debris was showering all over the car. Being locked 
in and no way to get out, I felt that this was going to be my coffin. There was a lot of 
praying going on until the bombing stopped. Lucky for us the car did stay upright and no 
direct hits on it.        

             A few hours later the doors were opened and we had to get out. The damage to 
the rails was almost complete. Getting a ride to someplace was now out of the question. 
We were lined up and started to march again. This was a long march with  many 
overnight stays. We headed north and arrived at Stalag XC, near Nienburg, Germany. A 
few days later we left and headed for Bremen, Germany. A short distance north of 
Bremen we wound up in Stalag XB near Bremervorde.

                     As we approached the Stalag one of the guards told us that we were going 
in the direction that we would soon be liberated. Off in the distance we could hear faintly 
the sound of shells bursting. A few of us got together and made up our minds that as 
long as they went in the direction of the sound we would stay with the line of march, but 
if they changed and started to go away from the sound, we would try to make a run for 
it. We did stay in the right direction.        

             For approximately three weeks now the weather was getting much better and a 
little warmer. There were no work details at Stalag XB. Everyone now was beginning to 
improve. You could see people starting to smile again. There was a Catholic priest 
(French) in the camp. So, every morning I would go to mass. I think everybody was at 
the mass. After mass he would hear confessions. The only sin one in our position could 
commit was to hate a fellow human being. I went anyway. He didn't speak English so he 
had a book that had all the commandments in French and English. You would just point 
to the one that applied. He then pointed to your  penance and gave you absolution. 
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Fasting was no problem, we did it every day for months. Not of our own choosing.

                     This was the only camp that you could see where the division fences were 
that separated the French and Russians from the English and Americans. When we were 
traveling the Americans were together and the English were in their own column. In the 
camps we were in the same enclosure, but in separate areas. We thought we were bad 
off, but the Russians were treated 100% worse than we were, and you could see it in 
their faces. The Russians were made to work every day. When they came back at night, 
they had hidden on them some potatoes and sometimes eggs. If you had anything to 
trade, such as cigarettes, gold ring or fountain pen, you could trade with them for 
whatever they had. I didn't have anything so I couldn't trade.        

             Some of the English soldiers that we spoke to were captured at Dunkirk, five 
years as prisoners. They really felt sorry for us. They explained that when they were first  
captured and up until just before the "Bulge", their life wasn't too bad. The Germans 
would allot so many prisoners to each farmer, depending on the size of his farm. The 
farmer was now responsible for feeding, working and containing them. Most of the 
Englishmen agreed that they had enough of what they needed. Some of the farmers even 
supplied a few women once in a while. They also received their Red Cross 
parcels regularly. They were all well dressed. The reason they felt sorry for us was 
because as the Germans had less, they kept getting a little less. So their bodies gradually 
got used to having less food. On the other hand we were eating like kings one day, then 
nothing. The English men all looked healthy, we all looked like a little flesh on the bones. 
The one thing that did bug them though was the rate of pay difference. An English soldier 
that was captured for five years compared to an American soldier of the same rank, 
captured for one year, got less back pay than the American. The English P.O.W.'s were 
much more organized than we were. They maintained their  squads and chain of 
command. A German guard had to tell the highest ranking non-com what he wanted 
done, then the non-com would detail his men accordingly. The American P.O.W. was 
every man for himself.   

             This Stalag was only approximately five hundred yards, set back from the main 
road to Bremen. We spent a lot of time just watching the traffic (all military) going up 
and down the road. They would only make a run for it at certain times. It was fun for us 
to watch, when all of a sudden as a truck or tank came flying down the road, an American 
or English fighter plane would be on his tail. A few rockets fired, and a bundle of scrap 
metal remained.  

             One day we were told by the English (somehow they had got hold of a radio) that 
the city of Bremen was given an ultimatum to surrender or be bombed to the ground. I 
forget what the time for surrender was, but we were all waiting to see what happen. 
Shortly after zero hour the sky was completely covered with B-17's, I have no idea how 
many planes there were, they just came one wave after the other. We could hear the 
sound of the explosions. as darkness came, you could see in the distance the glow of the 
fires.        

             We now felt that maybe soon we would be liberated, that is, if we lived. We 
prayed that none of those bombs came our way. Everyday we could hear the sounds of 
battle getting closer to us. One morning I was at mass. All of a sudden shells were 
landing just outside our compound. The priest turned around, and through an interpreter, 
said, "I am going to finish the mass," but if we wanted to take cover he would 
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understand. I figured if I was going to get killed, I may as well be at mass. So I stayed. 
The Germans had just put their artillery at the perimeter of the camp. This permitted 
them to fire at the advancing troops, but they couldn't fire back the way they wanted to 
for fear of hitting us. This battle lasted for three days.

                     On April 28, 1945 something looked different when we walked out of the 
barracks. There wasn't any roll call and most of the guards were gone. Rumors started to 
fly that the end was near. Under the Geneva Convention when a P.O.W. camp was going 
to be liberated, enough guards must be left to protect the P.O.W.'s from any civilians 
coming in and killing us. We were not allowed to leave the camp so we just sat around 
and waited.

                     We were back to our spot watching the road. All of a sudden the traffic was 
like a Sunday coming home from the shore. They were flying down that road, with fighter 
planes hot on their tails. Many were hit and destroyed. Now the fighter planes would 
circle back and fly over our camp. As they went by they would dip their wings from side 
to side and wave. There was a slight gap in the traffic and then much to our surprise over 
the hill came three tanks. What a surprise, on the side was a big white star. All Allied 
vehicles had a white star on the sides. After seeing nothing but black  crosses for so long, 
this was the happiest day of my life. They came down the road and turned in to the 
entrance road to the camp. There were four German guards at the gate. They opened the 
gates, dropped their rifles and put their hands in the air. They came into the compound 
and stopped. We all ran and climbed all over those heroes. These were in the English 
Army, although they were from the Welsh Guards. They couldn't have been nicer to us. 
They gave us everything they had, which included cigarettes, chocolate and a few cans of 
what they called Bully Beef. This was like a can of corned beef. They then said that they 
were sorry that they didn't have much more to give us. After telling us that in a short 
while there would be the proper unit come along to take care of us. We were sorry to see 
them go.           

             They were right. Along came a convoy of jeeps and command cars. These were 
mostly officers. Now came the sad news. We were not going to leave right away. They 
gave us cards to fill out, this was to let them know who was there, how many were there 
and where you came from. They also gave us a card that we could write to our family and 
let them know that you were now a free man again and would be coming home soon. 
That night they brought in a kitchen truck and we had the first taste of some good food. 
They didn't give us too much and of course we wanted more. They then told us that if you 
ate too much it would kill you.

              The next day a convoy of trucks came in for our transportation. We were loaded 
and taken out of hell. We arrived after a long ride in Brussels, Belgium. It was at a big 
Army controlled complex, English of course. Before we could even leave the courtyard, 
we had to strip naked and throw all our clothes in a large bin. These would all be burned. 
We were then de-loused with DDT. Then we entered into the building and right into a hot 
shower. You cannot imagine how heavenly this was. The first time we had washed in four 
and a half months. Jokingly, the English threatened to shoot us if we didn't come out of 
the shower. We then went to the medical staff for a physical. Anyone with any kind of a 
problem was immediately sent to the hospital. As for myself, other than being weak and 
underweight, I wasn't feeling too bad. After the medical treatment we were issued a 
complete set of clothes. What a laugh we had seeing all these GI's in English uniforms. 
We then went to the mess hall for dinner. Again it was just a small amount. They also 
had guards at the chow line. Unlike the first night in England where I had to eat all that I 
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took, These guards were there to make sure that nobody tried to go through the line 
twice.  

             After a good night's sleep in a real bed, we had a nice breakfast. We were then 
taken to an auditorium for an orientation lecture. They brought us up tp date on the 
status of the war. Now they explained what was going to happen to us. First, they said 
that as a P.O.W. we were very special. We could go and do anything that we wanted to. 
However, if we wanted to get home as fast as possible, please do as they say. As I see it 
now, this is where I made a mistake. I could have asked to go to Scotland. It would have 
been nice to visit my aunts and their families. But, in my mind at that time was to get 
home. So, I did as they said. They then gave us some money, I don't remember how 
much. We were now free to leave the area. I walked up to what was a section of the 
town of Brussels. It was a great feeling, at last I could go someplace all by myself with 
no one watching over me. I felt like I was born again. I went to a place that looked like 
an ice cream parlor. I bought a drink and some biscuits. What a feeling, to be able to buy 
something. I must have sat there for over an hour, just watching people stroll by.

                     Within a few days they transported us to an airport. We boarded C-47 
transport planes. I couldn't believe my eyes when two English sergeants went into the 
cockpit and flew us to Camp Lucky Strike at Le Havre, France. All American planes were 
flown by an officer. When we de-planed we were assembled in an area where many, 
many other P.O.W.'s had just arrived also. I spotted two buddies from my outfit and 
immediately ran to them. We were so happy to see each other. Each of us didn't know if 
the other was dead or alive. With everyone running all over the place, the officers were 
going crazy trying to get their groups assembled. Being in different uniforms, they 
couldn't tell the Americans from the English. All you could hear was the cry, "If you are 
American, get over here, if you are English, get over there."

                     Camp Lucky Strike was a tent-city camp. We were assigned to a tent, six 
men in each. We were then marched to the medical area. Each man was checked for 
heart, lungs and rashes. If you had any complaints you were treated further. There 
wasn't anything to do there except visit all the other tents to see if you knew anybody. 
We also went through a  small orientation program. This included who you were, what 
outfit you were in, when and where you were captured, when you were liberated and by 
whom. They also gave us a pay allotment. We were there only a few days when the 
Germans unconditionally surrendered. May 7, 1945, VE-Day. The whole camp went crazy. 
Horns were blowing, bells were ringing, the men were jumping around singing and 
dancing. Happy, happy day! A few days later we were transported to the Port of Le Havre 
and boarded a Liberty ship for the sail home.

                     A Liberty ship was a small cargo ship designed and built for shipping 
material over seas during the war. Kaiser Shipyards in California averaged making one a 
day. So, you can see, there were no frills. The group that we were assigned to were in 
port to transport German P.O.W.'s to the  U.S.A. As the war was now over, they quickly 
converted them for our use. I couldn't wait to get on board so I could get to the PX. On 
our ship for the trip over here (the Wakefield) the PX was stocked with all kinds of 
goodies. Hershey bars and all the others were 50 cents for a box of 24. Cigarettes at 50 
cents a carton. You could buy chocolate milk or soda. Also, all kinds of cookies. I was 
going to have a party. We no sooner got settled in our assigned area when the familiar   
sound on a ship came over the loud speaker, "Now hear this. We are sorry to inform you 
that because of the haste to get you fellows home, these ships were not intended for that 
purpose, therefore there will be no PX on this ship." They could have shot me right then 
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and there I felt so bad. Besides getting home, that was the only thing I was looking 
forward to.         

             Now, for the trip home, what an experience. It took us five days to go over and 
twenty-one to come back. There were a few reasons for it. A Liberty ship travels very 
slowly. We were in a large convoy and the weather was very bad. It was like being back 
in the Bulge, only not as cold. Rainy, heavy fog and we had to travel under blackout 
conditions and radio silence. The war was over but there was no guarantee that all the 
German submarines were notified and if they were, would the fanatics obey the cease 
fire.        

             The food wasn't too bad. The only thing to do was play Bingo. Every day for three 
hours we played and believe me, nobody missed. The reason for that was because, if you 
won Bingo, your prize was two Hershey bars. I won a few times, and they were like 
manna from heaven. We spent a lot of time just sitting on the deck and enjoying our 
freedom. One day while sitting there, out of the fog appeared a big gray ship on a 
collision course with us. Boy, did we yell our heads off! Bells rang, horns blew, and we 
had a side swipe. We lost a few life boats on that side. Later that afternoon we were 
rammed in the rear. The back of our ship had damage but it was way above the 
waterline. The ship that rammed us had a big gapping hole in the front, some below the 
waterline. He had to head for the nearest port. We were told that would be Nova 
Scotia.        

             The days passed slowly. There wasn't anything to do. Everyone was thinking of 
home, that is what made the trip seem even longer. Finally the order was given to the 
ship's crew to uncover the cargo hatches and all the lights were put on. Hooray! at last 
we knew that we were in friendly waters, that meant we were close to home. Then, at 
night in the distance, we could see lights. That meant land. Then we started up the 
Hudson River. It was around 11:00 PM. the city fire boats came out to meet us. With their 
horns blasting and all their hoses spouting water high into the air, they escorted us up 
past the Statue Of Liberty. What a beautiful sight. Many times I thought that I might 
never see that sight again.

                     After dinner that day we were told to get all our  belongings (and believe 
me, they weren't much) together, clean up all around our bunk area and clamp the bunks 
up in the storage position. We would be getting off the ship that evening. The bunks 
were stacked five high when used for transporting personnel. When in the stored 
position they hinged and folded up against the bulkhead. Boy, what a  feeling, we were at 
last going to get off this most uncomfortable cruise ship. Not so fast. We all were 
gathered around the railing while the ship docked at the pier. Wait a minute, something 
here just don't look right. There wasn't anybody on the pier to greet us. A little while 
later a door opened and an officer came out. He waved and yelled up to us to go back to 
bed, we weren't going to get off until the next morning. At that point I could have 
jumped off the ship and swam across the river to Jersey. There was no way that any of 
us was going to go down in that ship, unhook the bunk for a few hours sleep and redo 
the whole thing again in the morning. We were so pumped up that I wouldn't have been 
able to sleep anyway. So we just sat down on the deck, leaned against the bulkhead and 
waited.

                     Very early the next morning all the big doors were opened. Out came an 
Army Band playing wonderful music. They never stopped playing until everyone was off 
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that ship. As we came off the ship we were met by the Red Cross. They gave us two 
donuts and a cup of coffee each. That was all you could  get even though everyone 
wanted more. The rule still was, five meals a day, but not too much at each meal. What a 
feeling to be back on the good old soil of the U.S.A. They all knew that we were all 
P.O.W.'s and what a great welcome they gave us. We were lined up and marched onto a 
ferry boat.  The ferry took us across the river, then we were loaded on a railroad car for 
the trip down to Camp Kilmer, N.J.        

             Upon arrival at the camp we were assembled in a large hall that was used for 
mass physicals. On the platform was four doctors. When we stood there stripped, the 
doctors started to laugh, of course we weren't too happy about that. Then the head 
doctor stood at the microphone and said, "Please forgive us for laughing, but you all look 
like a group of pregnant women." What we didn't know or realize was that a person that 
has been under malnutrition for as long as we were, and then receive vitamins and 
nourishing food, the body swells up for a short time. We were given complete physicals, 
then issued all new uniforms. We also were given a pay allowance.     

              After being assigned to a barracks, an officer explained what was in store for us. 
We were only going to be there a few days and we would be shipped down to Fort Dix, 
N.J. We were now free to go anywhere on the camp grounds that we wished, however, 
we had to check the bulletin board frequently because things for us were being worked 
on as fast as possible, so that we can go home as soon as possible. I headed immediately 
for the PX. Luckily for me the lines for the telephones were not too long. When my turn 
came I was so nervous that I could hardly dial the number. When my mother  answered, 
I cried. She kept saying, "Hello, Hello," then I said, "Hi Mom, it's John." She then started 
to cry so we both were crying. It was so good to hear her voice again. Her first question 
was, "Are you all right?" When I told her that I was still in one piece, she said, "It 
doesn't matter, we are so happy to have you back." I then told her as much as I knew at 
that time, I would let her know as soon as I knew, when I would be home. I knew that 
Ann (my future wife) was working and I didn't have her number. That night I called her. 
Of course my mother had already told her that I was back. Being on a pay phone and 
with a line of soldiers waiting to use the phone, we couldn't talk long. After hanging up I 
felt like the luckiest man in the world. I was now at last in my own country and I had just 
spoken to the people that meant the world to me. No one realizes what they have until 
they don't have it anymore. 

              After realizing my first dream, talking to my mother and knowing that later, I 
would realize my second dream, talking to Ann, I then ran to my third dream, inside the 
PX. I, with my own money, bought a Coke, a pint of ice cream and a few Hershey Bars. I 
left the PX for the barracks, a very happy man.

              A few days later we did leave for Fort Dix, N.J. I was liberated on April 28, 1945. 
It was now June 6, 1945. Here I was, back at the place that I started my Army career, 
two years and six months later. I then thought back to those days, living in tents, not 
knowing anyone. A quiet young boy, nervous, wondering what the future was going to 
bring. Now, coming back as a young man thinking about all that I had gone through.

                     Our time in Fort Dix was short. We were only there to get all our paper work 
back in order. They gave us all the back pay that was owed to us. I forgot the exact 
amount, but it was approximately $450.00. Then we were given a 60 day furlough and it 
was to start the next day. Now the adrenalin  started to flow. Just think, in about 24 
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hours I would be back home for the first time in about eight months. I checked  the train 
schedule, then called home to tell them what time I would be in the Newark train station. 
My arrival time was 7:30 PM.

                     When I think about it now, I may have done a cruel thing to them. As a joke, 
I decided to wear my English uniform home. Ann told me, that all the way down to the 
station, my father kept telling them, "Now, you two, no mater what he looks like, don't 
let on that anything is different. Just be happy that he is home." What he meant by that 
was that they had all seen pictures of the liberated P.O.W.'s. They all looked like 
skeletons, nothing but skin and bones. That's what they were expecting to find. I did 
look like that when I was liberated. Now I was all bloated up. Fat round face and  big 
round belly. I knew the door that they would be coming through, so my train arrived 
early and I was there before them. I stood against the wall and waited. Shortly after they 
came in I saw them and waited to see if they would recognize me. They looked around 
and I could see that they didn't know I was there. As I walked up to them the look on 
their faces was one of complete surprise. I put my arms around my mother and Ann at 
the same time. It may have been a few seconds, but to me it felt like a long time. Then 
my father hugged me, and for the first time that I could remember, he kissed me. Those 
few minutes made everything worth while. Although the ride home is a short one, I 
wanted it to last forever. I now had  "my" life back, the way I wanted it.

                     The sixty days passed quickly. Ann's boss gave her the next week off. I 
spent a lot of time at home with my family and Ann. My family at that time was only my 
mother, father and sister. Jim, Tom and Bernard were all away in the Army. I was very 
fortunate, in that, during my time home at different times, Jim, Tom and Bernard all got 
furloughs and we could be together, even if only for a short time. Poor Ann was the one 
that paid the price. When they were home we double dated. That meant, night after 
night, it would be one or two o'clock  in the morning, and she had to get up to go to work 
the next day. She didn't regret it, but I kind of think she was happy to see me leave for a 
while.

                     Brother Jim was dating a girl from Long Island. On VJ-Day the four of us 
went to Times Square. There were thousands of  people there. You couldn't move, and 
yet there was no one mugged or hurt, everyone was just so happy, at last the war was 
over and no more American boys would be killed.

                     On August 9,1945 (my birthday) my sixty days were up and I had to report 
back to the Army. This, by no means, was a hard thing to do. I had to report to the Hotel 
Dennis in Atlantic City for rehabilitation, physical fitness and relaxation. If I had been 
married, my wife could have come with me. For $1.50 you would get a beautiful room 
with three meals and entertainment. The $1.50 was for her meals. Being single, I had to 
share a room with another fellow.

                     My time there was for two weeks. Most of the time this was not like the 
Army. All meals were served in a banquet hall. At lunch and dinner there was a three 
piece ensemble playing dinner music. The waiters all wore black suits and ties. With a 
white towel over one arm, he would hand you a  menu and you could order anything you 
wanted. What a life. After breakfast, when you went back to your room, the bed was       
made up and all your clothes were hung up for you. With no trouble, I could have stayed 
in this Army.       
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             Our mornings were spent on physical exams, orientation classes and re-
establishment of our Army records. Most of  them were lost in the battle. The object was 
to try and find out what they were going to do with you. The assigning officer tried his 
best, day after day, to send me to Fort Sill, Oklahoma. This is an artillery base and I 
would be an instructor. I had heard that as a P.O.W. I could insist on being sent as close 
to home as possible and this is what I told him that I wanted.

                     The afternoons and evenings were free. They would supply  busses to take 
you golfing (unfortunately for me, I didn't play golf at that time) or to tennis courts. The 
beach in front of the hotel was restricted to the soldiers staying  there only. There was a 
big stage on the beach and in a semi-circle in front of it was many beach lounge chairs. 
At around 2:00 PM every day, what ever big star was at the Million  Dollar Pier or the 
Steel Pier would put on an hour show. The ones that I can remember were: Glenn Miller's 
Orchestra, Sammy Kaye and his orchestra, Jimmy Dorsey and his orchestra  and Bud 
Abbott and Lou Costello. This was living. You went down to the basement of the hotel 
and up to a window. The man would give you a bathing suit, beach towel and a pair of  
sandals. There were lockers to put your clothes in. Now, you walked out under the 
boardwalk and take any chair that was  empty. Some had sun protection and these were 
the ones that I took.  

             I called home often. After a week went by, I called home. Brother Jim answered 
and said, "I guess you were happy to see Ann down there." I said, "What did you say?" 
He told me again. I told him that I didn't know that she was down here.  After I hung up 
I knew where she would be. George Hammid  owned the Million Dollar Pier. His wife was 
related to the family. So, I knew that she would be staying in their mansion  on the end 
of the pier. I went to the manager and asked him if he would call and see if she was 
there. He did and she was. What a great surprise, now we spent all my free time walking 
the boardwalk and just sitting and watching the ocean. In the evening we would sit on 
chairs along the side of the pier. On two occasions, George Hammid pulled up in his 
Cadillac and said, "Is that you, Ann?" She would reply and he would say, "Don't forget to 
be in before 11:00 o'clock, because the gates will be locked after that." I was  introduced 
to him and he knew my story, yet with all his money, he never offered us a ticket to any 
of the shows or arranged for us to go to a nice restaurant for supper. I never forgave him 
for that.        

             I was then sent to Fort Belvoir, Virginia, this was an  engineering base. All 
P.O.W.'s were put into an area with  three barracks. The officer in charge admitted that 
he didn't know what to do with us. We weren't required to do anything, however, he said 
to help pass the time, he would put up on the board, some of the jobs that we may be 
interested in doing. For a few days I drove a jeep, taking officers all over the camp. Then 
I took a tool crib attendant job in the sheet metal shop. I kept telling the officer that I 
wanted to go to the nearest Post, closest to my home.        

             After three weeks I was sent to Camp Shanks, N.Y. This was a camp of 
Embarkation or Debarkation and it was near Nyack, approximately one hour from home. 
Our job varied here. We would escort troops to the train for shipment over seas. We 
would on other occasions go down to the Hudson River and escort troops that have just 
arrived by ferry boat (they came from over seas to the Port of New York, then loaded 
onto ferries for the trip up the Hudson) back to the camp. Some times we even guarded 
German P.O.W.'s on some clean-up work. When I saw how they were treated and the 
way that we were treated, my blood would boil. Many days we had nothing to do, so I 
went home. I was home more than I was in camp.  

file:///Z|/Web%20Sites/German%20PW%20Camps/...20Limburg/John%20Gatens/GatensJohn_589A.htm (32 of 40) [12/1/2006 1:29:48 PM]



www.IndianaMilitary.org

             In mid-November 1945, I was shipped to Camp Kilmer again and discharged. At 
last, after almost three years of Army life, I was now free to pursue my future. Not all of 
it was bad. I had some good times. I met some very nice people, that are still to this day 
friends of mine. We meet every year and  have a great time.

                     I will include in the back of this report, a few of the articles that I have that 
tell some of the details of battle and opinions of the writers to what we had 
accomplished.        

             As I conclude, all I can say is that I am sorry that I didn't do this fifty years ago. 
Dates, times and places would have been more complete. I did want to give all, some of 
the terrible things that I went through, there were many more,  however, the reader will 
get the idea.        

                                            JOHN F. GATENS  1995 

      
For the action at Baraque de Fraiture,so briefly described 
above, the 589th FABn received the following citation: 

      Appendix V.  Award of Croix de Guerre
With Silver Gilt Star
Decision No. 247
589th Field Artillery Battalion (105 How) 
The President of the Provisional Government of the French 
Republic cites to the Order of Army: 
CITATION  
A remarkable battalion whose brilliant conduct was
greatly valued during the battles of St.Vith and Manhay
on 16 to 23 December 1944. Attacked by an enemy operating
in force but filled with the desire to conquer at any
cost, it remained in position and, with direct and 
accurate fire, kept the attackers from access to vital
communications south of Manhay. Short of food, water and
pharmaceutical products, the 589th Field Artillery
Battalion endured three attacks without flinching, 
inflicting heavy losses on the enemy and forced him to
retire.  
PARIS, 15 July 1946
Signed, BIDAULT 
General of the Army JUIN 
Chief of Staff of National Defence 
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This Hotel Restaurant, is now on Parker's Crossroads, a 105 mm Howitzer Memorial, to 
us is across the street.  The same family, owns the Hotel, that lived in the bombed out 
farm house.

        The following appeared in the August 1993 issue of the magazine "Field Artillery". It 
was written by Sgt. First Class (retired) Richard Raymond III. He won 2nd Place in the 
US Field Artillery Association's 1993 History Writing Contest with this article. He's a 1954 
graduate of the US Naval Academy at Annapolis and served in the Marine Corps, 
discharged as a 1st Lt. in 1960. Eight years later, Sgt. 1st Class Raymond served with the 
National Guard Field Artillery units in Connecticut, North Carolina & Virginia. His 
experience with Field Artillery includes serving as Fire Direction Center Chief, A Battery, 
1st Battalion, 113 Field Artillery, Norfolk, Virginia. His last assignment was as Brigade 
Intelligence Sergeant, 2nd Brigade, 29th Infantry Division in Bowling Green, Va., before 
he retired from the Army in 1990. He has published military history articles in "Soldiers" 
and "Army" magazines and won the US Army Forces Command "Fourth Estate" Award for 
military journalism in 1983.    

                       *****************************       

             PARKER'S CROSSROADS: The ALAMO DEFENSE,  By Sergeant First Class (Ret.) 
Richard Raymond III

        --------------------------------------------------------------

         The tactical situation may require a rigid defense of a fixed position. Such a 
defense, if voluntarily adopted, requires the highest degree of tactical skill and 
leadership.

                              U S Army Field Service Regulations, 1939

        --------------------------------------------------------------

          In the forested hills of eastern Belgium stands the tiny hamlet of Baraque de 
Fraiture at the intersection of two good highways. To see this little clutch of buildings, 
one would hardly think that the red tide of war had ever washed over them. Yet this now-
peaceful crossroads was the scene of fierce combat, one of the most heroic that ever 
graced the annals of American arms.
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          For in the winter of 1944, a skeleton headquarters and a bob-tailed, three gun 
battery of light howitzers, the forlorn remnant of a once potent 589th Field Artillery 
Battalion, chugged wearily up to the junction under the command of Major  Arthur C. 
Parker III. The battalion's mission was to organize and defend the crossroads when a 
great wave of Nazi armor and infantry had cracked the Allied Front, reaching north-
westward  toward the crossings of the Meuse River and the vital port of  Antwerp. A 
dangerous split between the British and American armies was a real possibility.

          For three 105mm howitzers to hold the outpost line is not a conventional 
assignment for a divisional battery and deserves  explanation. They represented all that 
was left of a 12 gun battalion in direct support to the 422nd Infantry Regiment of  the 
106th "Golden Lion" Infantry Division. Their misfortune was to have been at the point of 
a great enemy offensive less than one week after arriving from training camps in 
England.

          The Golden Lions had moved directly into foxholes and trenches vacated by the 
veteran 2nd Infantry Division, "man for man and gun for gun," as the orders put it. The 
relief went smoothly enough, but the division commander, Major General Alan W. Jones, 
was concerned about the exposed positions of his regiments and the extreme length of 
the line they were to occupy - nearly 22 miles.

          Higher headquarters had called it a "Ghost Front" with little or no enemy activity, 
but Jones and his staff at once set about making the lines more secure. He had hoped to 
have a period of gradual workouts against the formidable "West Wall"  before serious 
operations began in the spring, But on 16 December, Hitler's tanks rolled, and the Battle 
of the Bulge was on.

          In a three day nightmare, Jones division was swamped and broken by powerful 
armor and infantry thrusts, and two of his three line regiments were surrounded and 
forced to surrender. The remainder felt lucky to be able to pull back to more       
defensible lines around St. Vith.

          During the withdrawal, the 589th Field Artillery was ambushed and cut off, and 
most of the battalion, including its commander was captured. Only a handful from 
Headquarters Battery and the first three howitzers of A Battery escaped. These were the 
guns that Major Parker - formerly battalion S3 but then acting commander - led into 
position around Baraque de Fraiture. But he meant to make a fight of it - Parker had         
elected to conduct an "Alamo Defense."

         ALAMO DEFENSE

          The Alamo Defense deserves serious study as an option for the commander of a 
force facing a greatly superior enemy, given a vital defensive mission and meager 
resources to sustain it. Though the historical precedent is obvious, this tactic is defined 
here as the rigid defense of a key position  carried out to the utter destruction of the 
command with the objective of forcing the enemy to expend significant amounts  of men, 
material and especially time, thereby enabling other friendly forces to regroup and fight 
elsewhere to better  advantage. It's an act of gritty self-sacrifice.

          This defense requires the utmost in leadership and tactical skill. It also demands 
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rare moral courage and dazzling salesmanship to persuade other units and individuals to 
stay and join an underdog team - qualities Major Parker had in abundance.

          The classic example of the Alamo Defense is the heroic stand in 480 BC of Leonidas 
and his 300 Spartans against the Persian hosts. (In truth, the fight at the Alamo might, 
with perfect justice, be called "Thermopylae Defense," but here it seems more 
appropriate to relate to American military tradition.)

          There are four critical elements in the Alamo Defense. First, the chosen terrain is 
one on which the enemy can't readily bypass or push through the defending force. 
Second, this type of defense is assumed voluntarily when less drastic courses of action 
are available. Next, combat is maintained to the bitter end - no breakout or fighting 
withdrawal (except, perhaps, for a few who escape during the final collapse). Last, the 
correctness of the decision to make the Alamo Defense is confirmed by the outcome: 
other friendly forces used the time well and fought on to victory. For only the mystic, 
sublime faith in the rightness of their cause and the hope that their deaths will not go un-
avenged can infuse the most rational soldiers with the spirit to carry such a black         
business to its conclusion.

          At Thermopylae, the Spartans held a narrow cliff-side road and were immovable by 
the huge masses of Persians. Only when a Greek traitor informed King Darius of the 
existence of a goat path around the little army did a flanking column succeed in getting 
behind them. Perfectly sure of their fate, Leonidas and his men permitted their allies to 
withdraw and then fought to the last man.

          In contrast to the rough terrain at Thermopylae, the Texans  little fortress at the 
Alamo represented a psychological roadblock. Santa Anna, who boasted of being the 
"Napoleon of the West," could not, for his very pride's sake, simply march  around San 
Antonio and press on to his true objective, Sam Houston's ragged army. Houston, coolly 
logical, had ordered Col. William Travis to abandon the Alamo and blow up the magazine. 
The post was militarily indefensible, and to allow a whole whole battalion of splendid 
fighters to be trapped and destroyed was folly. Travis ignored the order, answering Santa 
Anna's call to surrender with a cannon shot. His men stood defiant to the         end, 
inflicting fearful losses on Santa Anna's best troops. Houston gained two precious weeks 
to discipline and train his army, and when he faced the Mexican dictator at San     
Jacinto, the Alamo ghosts marched with him. Travis had been right after all, and at the 
sight of the vengeful Texans, waving knives and hatchets and shrieking "Remember the 
Alamo," the Mexican army dissolved into a mob of terror stricken fugitives.  

        PARKER'S CROSSROADS

          Major Parker's little band was a mixed force. In addition to his own 589th Artillery, 
he found or was sent some half-tracks with .50 caliber quad mounts, a few Armored Field 
Artillery observers, a tank destroyer platoon, one parachute infantry rifle squad, a 
cavalry reconnaissance section and, later one glider borne rifle company - less than 300 
soldiers.

          He clearly realized (as his higher headquarters did not) that he stood on critical 
terrain. Baraque de Fraiture stands  at the crossing of the main north-south road from 
Bastogne through Houffalize to Liege with a good paved road westward from Vielsalm 
through La Roche. Moreover the Liege road was the exact boundary between the flank 
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divisions of two corps, neither one able to hold the road in strength. Loss of the junction 
would permit the Germans to move in either of three directions to flank or penetrate the 
First Army line. It could mean disaster.

          Thus, at about 1600 hours on 20 December, Parker's forces went into position 
following what he considered to be competent orders from a higher authority to organize 
a strong- point and fire on approaching enemy forces. Initial supplies of rations, fuel and 
ammunition had been drawn at Vielsalm. Parker's force was ready for action. 

          So far, so good. But after several successful fire missions, Parker was ordered to 
displace northward to Bra. (In all fairness, the junction's importance also was initially 
overlooked by both the 3rd Armored and 82nd Airborne Divisions  sharing that boundary. 
Only later, after much action, did it gain its tactical title of "Parker's Crossroads.")

          The Major's decision to ignore the order-or, more subtly, to delay until execution 
became impossible-lifts this action into the ranks of intrepidity, above and beyond the 
call of duty. He seems to have reached the decision alone. Captain Arthur C. Brown, third 
ranking officer at the scene and the only firing battery commander to have escaped the 
earlier battalion ambush, wrote, "Major Parker was ordered to withdraw fron this         
untenable position, but he delayed doing so because he probably sensed the importance 
of holding up the enemy at this point. Further, he did not want to leave the people from 
other outfits there by themselves (he did not give me a vote!). It wasn't long before we 
reached the time of no return, as we became surrounded ("My Longest Week," 
unpublished).

          Parker knew what a powerful enemy armored and mechanized infantry force lay 
four miles west at Samree, for he had laid observed fire on it that morning. More armored 
noises were approaching up the road from the south, and his supply route through Regne 
to Vielsalm, some 11 miles east, was bare of support traffic. They were at the end of a 
very long limb. 

          The terrain around the crossroads is deceptively flat, though it stands on one of the 
highest elevations in the Ardennes, with broad open fields of fire in almost all  directions. 
But two large stands of evergreen woods afford easily infiltrated, concealed routes of 
approach nearly down to the junction. Once an enemy cut the road north to Manhay only 
four miles to the rear, the crossroads became a trap -  escape on foot through snow 
would have been extremely difficult and by vehicle on the road an impossibility. Parker 
meant to stay.

          On the other hand, the deep snow and trees tended to canalize enemy movements, 
and the howitzers were laid for  direct fire down the three roads: the roads to Samree,  
Houffalize and Vielsalm. Captain Brown had rejoined the battalion at Vielsalm and was 
put in charge of the guns.

          The perimeter was dug in, howitzers and machine guns emplaced, mines laid in the 
road and observers and outposts linked to battalion headquarters in a stone barn about 
100 meters from the junction. Not satisfied with this, Parker had gone to Fraiture, 
another hamlet about a mile northeast, to request help from the glidermen holding the 
right (western) flank of the 82nd Airborne's thin line.
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          He was given one rifle company and none too soon. The enemy were already 
feeling out his position and were quite aware of  its basic weakness. During the next two 
days, two company  sized attacks were repulsed with losses while the Germans  built up 
their fuel and forces.

          By sunrise on 23 December, parties of Volksgrenadiers had worked around both 
flanks and threatened the lifeline from Manhay. In the predawn darkness, an enemy 
patrol was hit by the quad-50's, its officer and an NCO taken prisoner. They were from 
the 2nd Panzer Division just coming up from  Houffalize, scouting for an attack position. 
During the previous day's hasty attacks, Major Parker was wounded by mortar shell 
fragments, lost consciousness and was evacuated. Major Elliot Goldstein-the original 
battalion executive officer but actually junior to Parker - took command.   

          Goldstein proved himself as able in holding the position as Parker had been in 
selecting it. Until the final, coordinated attack of two rifle battalions supported by tanks 
and preceded by a fierce artillery preparation, the Germans never managed to breach the 
perimeter.

          As the official Army history states, "Drastically  outnumbered and unable to 
compensate for weakness by maneuver, the defenders of the Baraque de Fraiture 
crossroads had  succumbed, like so many small forces at other crossroads in the 
Ardennes" (Hugh M. Cole, ARDENNES: BATTLE of the BULGE, US Army in World War II, 
European Theater of Operations, 1965).

          The Alamo Defense had been a splendid success, holding firm for two days against 
elements of an armored division whose two mechanized infantry regiments had to make 
a deliberate attack on a weak patchwork force in a few stone buildings. The over-
stretched 82nd Airborne Division stretched some more, swung  back and covered the 
gap. The 3rd Armored Division was given time to form another tank-infantry delaying 
force just south  of Manhay.

          If more proof of the Alamo Defense's success is needed, it lies in the fact that, 
though German armor took Manhay  crossroads after a bitter fight, they got no further 
north.

        "Although the 2nd SS Panzer Division still held Grandmenil and  Manhay on the 
morning of 26 December, it had lost much of its bite and dash.....the 4th Panzer 
Grenadiers had lost heavily,  particularly in officers, during the fight for Baraque de         
Fraiture" (Cole). With elements of the 75th Infantry Division  solidly in place before 
them, the frustrated Germans turned west again in a futile lunge for the Meuse crossings 
they never came close to reaching.  

          The 589th was effectively destroyed. A few officers and men fought or slipped 
through to friendly lines, but the guns,  tank destroyers, armored cars and AAA half-
tracks were lost. Of the 116 man glider rifle company, only 44 rejoined their  parent unit. 
But in June 1945, the battered 106th Division was reconstituted, and Parker returned to 
command the new 589th.

         CONCLUSION
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          To a professional readership, this account demands some conclusions. The fight at 
Parker's Crossroads seems to indicate several points.

          First, that there will be more such actions in the future, and this one should be 
studied as a classic example. After the Nazi surrender, Allied interrogators learned from 
defeated  commanders that the prime reason for the German armored mass failing to 
come forward as planned was "....the initial American defense had been more tenacious 
than anticipated; complete and rapid rupture of the defensive positions had not  been 
achieved" (Cole).

          And the official history adds, "...not only did the German planners fail to 
comprehend the degree of initiative that training and tradition have placed in the hands 
of American corps and army commanders, they also misunderstood the American 
doctrine, largely unwritten but universally accepted,  that major formations having no 
pre-battle relationship may, under fluid conditions, unite on the field after the battle is  
joined" (Cole). Nowhere is this principle more perfectly illustrated than at Parker's 
Crossroads, where small units instinctively coalesced into an effective fighting force 
under  a superlative leader.  

          Second, the concept is current doctrine. FM 100-5 OPERATIONS  (May 1986) 
states, "Whenever an unintentional encirclement  occurs, the encircled commander must 
understand the mission  and the higher commander's intent and concept of operation     
clearly....he must judge whether the next higher commander wants the force to break 
out or to defend the position....if it cannot break out, the senior commander must 
continue to defend, while planning for and assisting in linkup with a relieving force." 
Both Parker and Goldstein demonstrated a perfect understanding of these principles as 
laid down in         Field Service Regulations.

          Third, both senior and subordinate commanders, aware of the possibilities, should 
plan for the worst. The key issue is the voluntary assumption of a last-ditch stand, even 
against orders. Only the most urgent and vital considerations would justify this---if the 
junior commander survives, he might face court-martial and disgrace.

          Nevertheless, having made the decision, the Alamo force  commander must carry it 
through. He has committed himself and his men to victory or death---and probably the 
latter---and he must lead by personal example. A little band of strong men, resolved to 
die with sword in hand can be an extremely thorny  twig to grasp, and an enemy trying 
to meet a tight schedule may well hesitate. All the better for the Alamo force---it's just 
what they want.

          And the higher commander should prepare himself for the loss of valuable combat 
power, perhaps one third of his command, if his junior commander decides on an Alamo 
Defense. Both should ensure that no neglect or omission of support will suggest this 
desperate action and, with prudent foresight, avoid the necessity. But if it comes to the 
pinch, do it for the cause.

          Fourth, it appears that Parker and his men went largely un-rewarded for their 
valor. Parker received a Silver Star, Goldstein a Bronze Star with "V" device and several 
NCOs and  soldiers got individual decorations. The French government granted the 
battalion a Croix de Guerre with Silver Gilt Star, but no unit decoration was authorized 
from their own government. For a Medal of Honor performance by Parker, that  seems a 
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bit thin. Lapse of time and current regulations prohibit any further mark of recognition 
for an action that may very well have saved two divisions.

          Fifth, we may speculate that somewhere in today's Army walks another "Major 
Parker"--perhaps wearing lieutenant's bars or sergeant's stripes. If it were possible, the 
Army should find that man and cherish him, for one day it will need him very badly. Down 
some cold, perilous road he will see a great adversity rolling towards him. Then he will 
become "Major Parker" and fight like a barnful of wildcats. But now the Major's battle is 
over, and he sleeps among warriors. And in a grassy plot near the crossing of the two 
Belgian highways stands a carved granite boulder that proclaims it "Parker's 
Crossroads," where Major Arthur C. Parker III "breathed spirit" into his GI's, and all 
acquitted themselves most honorably against enormous odds.

          Finally, one does think that, had Leonidas of Sparta had a "Major Parker" to hold 
that fatal footpath, the Persians never would have turned his flank at Thermopylae.       
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